PHYSICS OF OUR DAYS

PACS numbers: 05.40. - a, 05.45. - a, 46.65. + g, 47.27. - i

DOI: 10.3367/UFNe.0186.201601e.0075

"The book of Nature is written

in the language of mathematics."

Galileo Galilei

Stochastic structure formation in random media

V I Klyatskin

Contents		
1.	Introduction	67
	1.1 Two-dimensional geophysical fluid dynamics; 1.2 Parametrically excited dynamical systems; 1.3 Statistical	
	characteristics of a random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$	
2.	Lognormal processes, intermittency, and dynamical localization	76
	2.1 Typical realization curve of a random process; 2.2 Dynamical localization	
3.	Lognormal fields, statistical topography, and clustering	78
	3.1 Lognormal random fields; 3.2 Statistical topography of random fields	
4.	Stochastic transport phenomena in a random velocity field	83
	4.1 Clustering of the density field in a random velocity field; 4.2 Probabilistic description of a magnetic field and its	
	energy in a random velocity field	
5.	Model of a stochastic velocity field allowing analytical solutions to transport problems	86
	5.1 Model of passive tracer diffusion; 5.2 Turbulent dynamo model	
6.	Parametrically excited dynamical systems with Gaussian pumping	88
	6.1 Statistical analysis of simple turbulent dynamo problem with Gaussian pumping; 6.2 Anomalous sea surface	
	structures	
7.	Conclusion	94
	References	94

<u>Abstract.</u> Stochastic structure formation in random media is considered using examples of elementary dynamical systems related to the two-dimensional geophysical fluid dynamics (Gaussian random fields) and to stochastically excited dynamical systems described by partial differential equations (lognormal random fields). In the latter case, spatial structures (clusters) may form with a probability of one in almost every system realization due to rare events happening with vanishing probability. Problems involving stochastic parametric excitation occur in fluid dynamics, magnetohydrodynamics, plasma physics, astrophysics, and radiophysics. A more complicated stochastic problem dealing with anomalous structures on the sea surface (rogue waves) is also considered, where the random Gaussian generation of sea surface roughness is accompanied by parametric excitation.

Keywords: stochastic equations, intermittency, Lyapunov characteristic parameter, typical realization curve, dynamical localization, statistical topography, clustering

V I Klyatskin Obukhov Atmospheric Physics Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences, Pyzhevskii per. 3, 109017 Moscow, Russian Federation Tel. + 7 (499) 269 12 83 E-mail: klyatskin@yandex.ru

Received 1 July 2015, revised 19 November 2015 Uspekhi Fizicheskikh Nauk **186** (1) 75–104 (2016) DOI: 10.3367/UFNr.0186.201601e.0075 Translated by S D Danilov; edited by A Radzig

1. Introduction

Humanity exists in a certain realization of stochastic spatiotemporal chaos. Yet physicists believe that the basic dynamical equations of mechanics, fluid dynamics, magnetohydrodynamics, electrodynamics, acoustics, optics, radiophysics, etc. describe the actual evolution of the world in space and time.

In 2014, the scientific community celebrated a jubilee the 450th anniversary of the birth of the great scientist Galileo [1], who contended that Nature formulates its laws in the language of mathematics. And the equations of dynamics in space and time indubitably embody one of the main manifestations of mathematics in physics! If Galileo was right, then a question arises as to how the laws of Nature can 'be rectified' from these equations without analyzing possible physical mechanisms of concrete phenomena. This question can only be answered with a rigorous statistical analysis. Namely such an approach is demonstrated in this work.

We begin by formulating the *main task* of a statistical analysis of stochastic dynamical systems in the way we understand it: *to find out, based on a relevant statistical analysis, such general properties of stochastic dynamical systems that are manifested with a unit probability, i.e., for almost all realizations of the systems being considered.* This is related to the fact that we commonly do not possess an ensemble for averaging, and specialists in numerical modeling and experimentalists alike deal only with separate realizations of random processes and fields. Traditional statistical averaging gives, as a rule, 'the mean over a hospital ward'. There are, of course, exceptions (see Section 1.1).

In stochastic dynamical systems described by equations in partial derivatives, a stochastic structure formation in space and time may take place in some events with a unit probability for individual realizations of the fields involved. Such processes and phenomena, occurring with a unit probability, we will call *coherent*. This kind of 'statistical coherence' can be considered some organization of a complex dynamical system, while singling out its *statistically stable characteristics* is analogous to the introduction of the concept of *coherence*, understood as *self-organization* in multicomponent systems arising from chaotic interactions among their elements (see, for example, book [2]).

This work deals with three types of the simplest dynamical systems: systems related to Gaussian random fields, to stochastic parametric excitation, and to stochastic parametric excitation fed by Gaussian pumping (the combined event). They are all described by equations in partial derivatives.

Note that even in Gaussian random fields one may encounter nontrivial situations, atypical for ordinary Gaussian noise. Such phenomena occur, for example, in two-dimensional problems of geophysical fluid dynamics in the rotating fluid with random bottom topography (see, for example, papers [3, 4]) and in the problem of anomalous structures on the sea surface (see Section 6.2).

1.1 Two-dimensional geophysical fluid dynamics

A simple manifestation of coherent phenomena corresponds to a two-dimensional incompressible flow of an ideal fluid on the plane $\mathbf{R} = (x, y)$, described by a streamfunction $\psi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ satisfying the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Delta \psi(\mathbf{R}, t) = J(\Delta \psi(\mathbf{R}, t); \psi(\mathbf{R}, t)), \quad \psi(\mathbf{R}, 0) = \psi_0(\mathbf{R}), \quad (1)$$

where Δ is the Laplacian, and $J(\psi(\mathbf{R}, t); \varphi(\mathbf{R}, t))$ is the Jacobian of two functions [5]:

$$J(\psi(\mathbf{R},t);\varphi(\mathbf{R},t)) = \frac{\partial\psi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial x} \frac{\partial\varphi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial\varphi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial x} \frac{\partial\psi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial y} \,.$$

Nonlinear interactions would drive hydrodynamic system (1) to statistical equilibrium. Realizing that the process whereby this equilibrium is established involves numerous interactions between perturbations on different scales, one may suppose that in the simplest case of a statistically homogeneous and isotropic initial random field $\psi_0(\mathbf{R})$ such an equilibrium distribution will be a Gaussian one, and the task reduces to defining its parameters. The random streamfunction $\psi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ stays spatially homogeneous and isotropic in the process of evolution. Since $\psi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ is defined up to the additive constant, its statistical characteristics can be described by the one-time structure function

$$D_{\psi}(\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}', t) = \left\langle \left[\psi(\mathbf{R}, t) - \psi(\mathbf{R}', t) \right]^2 \right\rangle$$
$$= 2 \left(B_{\psi}(0, t) - B_{\psi}(\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}', t) \right),$$

where $B_{\psi}(\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}', t) = \langle \psi(\mathbf{R}, t)\psi(\mathbf{R}', t) \rangle$ is the spatial correlation function of field $\psi(\mathbf{R}, t)$.

If we assume that the field $\psi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ has the distribution of a Gaussian statistically homogeneous and isotropic field

described by the steady-state structural function

$$D_{\psi}(R) = \lim_{t \to \infty} D_{\psi}(\mathbf{R}, t)$$

then the following equation can be obtained for this function [2]:

$$(\Delta_q + \lambda)\Delta_q D_{\psi}(q) = 0, \qquad (2)$$

where the separation constant λ has the dimension of an inverse length squared, $q = |\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}'|$, and Δ_q is the radial part of the Laplace operator.

There are two possible solutions of equation (2) that correspond to positive and negative values of the constant λ : $\lambda = k_0^2 > 0$ and $\lambda = -k_0^2 < 0$.

If $\lambda = k_0^2 > 0$, equation (2) is reduced to

$$\Delta_q D_\psi(q) = C J_0(k_0 q) \,,$$

where *C* is a dimensional constant, and $J_0(z)$ is the Bessel function of the first kind. In this case, the function $D_{\psi}(q)$ is determined by solving the Poisson equation, and the result for the spectral density of the streamfunction is as follows:

$$E(k) = E\delta(k - k_0),$$

which corresponds to random structures with a *certain fixed spatial scale*. In the case considered, these structures are *vortices*, i.e., we are dealing with structure formation through *vortex genesis*.

For $\lambda = -k_0^2 < 0$, equation (2) reduces to a similar equation

$$\Delta_q D_\psi(q) = C K_0(k_0 q) \,,$$

but with a modified Bessel function of the second kind (the Macdonald function) $K_0(z)$ on the right-hand side with dimensional parameters k_0 and C. The related spectral density of the streamfunction now takes the form

$$E(k) = \frac{E_0}{k^2 + k_0^2} \,,$$

which corresponds to the Gibbs distribution with two integrals of motion—those of energy and vorticity squared (enstrophy) of a velocity field (see, for example, Refs [6, 7]).

Acting in a similar way, it is also possible to consider equilibrium states for quasigeostrophic flows (in the presence of rotation) with a random topography of underlying surface for a one- and two-layer fluid flows (Fig. 1), where we encounter a similar situation.



Figure 1. Schematics of one- (a) and two-layer (b) models of hydrodynamical flows. H_0 , H_1 , and H_2 are the thicknesses of the fluid layers with densities ρ_0 , ρ_1 , and ρ_2 , respectively; $\tilde{h}(x)$ is the function describing the topography of the bottom.



Figure 2. System of regular convecting vortices on a rotating platform: (a) top view, and (b) side view. (Taken from monograph [12].)

For a one-layer model, the fluid motion in the twodimensional plane $\mathbf{R} = (x, y)$ is described by the *streamfunction* that satisfies the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Delta\psi(\mathbf{R},t) + \beta_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\psi(\mathbf{R},t) = J(\Delta\psi(\mathbf{R},t) + h(\mathbf{R});\psi(\mathbf{R},t)),$$

where the parameter β_0 is the meridional derivative of the local Coriolis parameter f_0 , and $h(\mathbf{R}) = f_0 \tilde{h}(\mathbf{R})/H_0$. Here, $\tilde{h}(x)$ is the function describing the bottom topography $\tilde{h}(\mathbf{R})$, and H_0 is the mean thickness of a fluid layer. This equation describes the *barotropic* motion of a fluid. In a more general case, to explore *baroclinic* motions, a two-layer model of quasigeostrophic flows is used, which is governed by the system of equations

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\Delta \psi_1 - \alpha_1 F(\psi_1 - \psi_2) \right] + \beta_0 \, \frac{\partial \psi_1}{\partial x} \\ &= J \left(\Delta \psi_1 - \alpha_1 F(\psi_1 - \psi_2); \psi_1 \right), \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\Delta \psi_2 - \alpha_2 F(\psi_2 - \psi_1) \right] + \beta_0 \, \frac{\partial \psi_2}{\partial x} \\ &= J \left(\Delta \psi_2 - \alpha_2 F(\psi_2 - \psi_1) + f_0 \alpha_2 h; \psi_2 \right), \end{split}$$

where the additional parameters $\alpha_1 = 1/H_1$ and $\alpha_2 = 1/H_2$ are the inverse layer thicknesses, and $F = f_0^2 \rho/g(\Delta \rho)$, $\Delta \rho / \rho = (\rho_2 - \rho_1)/\rho_0 > 0$.

Thus, there are already *two fixed scales* in a two-layer fluid.

It seems plausible to assume that such structures have been observed in experimental studies in rotating fluids (see, for example, Refs [8–10], review [11], and monographs [12, 13]), and also in numerical simulations (see, for example, Ref. [14]). As illustrations, we present Figs 2–5 which, in our opinion, correspond to the situation described. Figure 6 shows an example of structure formation in the field of surface flows in the Baltic Sea [15, 16].

1.2 Parametrically excited dynamical systems

We turn now to the statistical analysis of stochastic dynamical systems related to random parametric excitation in space and time. Such systems, appearing in many branches of physics, can be described by ordinary differential equations, as well as by partial differential equations. Stochastic structure formation for such systems in random media in the form of *clustering* is related to the parametric excitation of various



Figure 3. System of irregular convective vortices on a rotating platform for a rotational velocity larger than in Fig. 2. (Taken from monograph [12].)



Figure 4. Streak pattern of velocities in a baroclinically unstable two-layer stratified fluid on a rotating platform. (Taken from Ref. [11].)



Figure 5. (Color online.) Formation of eddies on a sphere driven by an unstable shear flow. (Taken from Ref. [14].)



Figure 6. Domain of the submesoscale surface vorticity field in the Baltic Sea.

physical fields in these media. Clustering of a particular field implies the appearance of compact regions with large field values against the background of surrounding areas with relatively low field values. Statistical averaging, expectedly, destroys all the information on clusters. Such challenges occur in fluid dynamics (a passive scalar tracer in a turbulent flow), in magnetohydrodynamics (a passive vector tracer magnetic field in a turbulent flow), and in the propagation of waves of various origins (acoustic and radio waves, light and laser radiation) in random media. All these issues are commonly considered in the kinematic approximation and share the following two most important traits.

(1) At fixed points in space, the field realizations in time are random processes which possess a specific character: they have the shape of peaks that appear at random instants of time. The intervals between them are characterized by low intensity and long duration. Such a realization of a random process in time for any location in space stems from the lognormal one-time distribution of probabilities, which has a slightly sloping 'tail'. The large but rare outliers (fluctuations) come from these tails. The main statistical characteristics of the processes being considered are the one-time probability density, one-time moment functions, typical realization curve characterizing the key features in the behavior of realizations of random processes, and Lyapunov exponent. In onedimensional tasks described by ordinary differential equations with initial or boundary conditions, only such physical phenomena as *dynamical localization* can be observed in a number of cases (see Section 2).

(2) The structure formation itself of a stochastic field takes place in physical space and is described through a related statistical analysis based on the ideas of statistical topography of a stochastic field. In the simplest problem formulation, under statistical homogeneity in space, all onepoint statistical characteristics of a random field are independent of spatial locations. Accordingly, the equation for the one-point probability density of a random field coincides in form with the equation for the probability density of a random process at each point in space, although the sense of these equations is substantially different. Relatedly, the statistical analysis of these equations should also be completely different.

A detailed discussion of these questions can be found in monographs [17–20] and articles [21–24].

First of all, a question arises as to whether or not such physical phenomena as localization and clustering occur in individual realizations of the processes and fields being considered, and if yes, then over which characteristic time (or on which spatial scales).

The phenomenon of structure formation in stochastic, parametrically excited dynamical systems on its own is well known in physics. For example, solutions of one-dimensional problems on parametric excitation, described by ordinary differential equations, are random processes.

The simplest dynamical system of that kind defines a lognormal random process $y(t; \alpha)$ described by a first-order ordinary stochastic differential equation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} y(t;\alpha) = \left\{-\alpha + z(t)\right\} y(t;\alpha), \quad y(0;\alpha) = 1, \quad (3)$$

where z(t) is a Gaussian random process of *white noise* with the parameters

$$\langle z(t) \rangle = 0$$
, $B_z(t-t') = \langle z(t)z(t') \rangle = 2D\delta(t-t')$.

The solution to equation (3) takes the form

$$y(t;\alpha) = \exp\left(-\alpha t + \int_0^t d\tau \, z(\tau)\right). \tag{4}$$

It should be noted that the change in the sign of parameter α in Eqn (4) is statistically equivalent to passing to the process 1/y(t) [25].

Figure 7 presents realizations of the lognormal random process $y(t; \alpha)$ given by formula (4) for positive and negative values of the parameter α and $|\alpha|/D = 1$ (the dashed lines correspond to the functions exp (-Dt) for $\alpha > 0$, and exp (Dt) for $\alpha < 0$). The presence of rare, but strong, spikes (fluctuations) with respect to the dashed curves in the directions of both large and small values can be seen in Fig. 7. This



property of random processes is called *intermittency*; it was intensively studied in the 1980s (see, for example, Refs [26, 27]). A detailed discussion of this question is given, for example, in monograph [19] and paper [28]. The curve with respect to which we identify the outliers (fluctuations) will be referred to as the *typical realization curve*.

The authors of practically every one of the numerous articles exploring the properties of intermittency cite Zel'dovich et al. [27] when turning to the notion of 'intermittency'. The term *intermittency* on its own emerged in studies of the velocity field and temperature spots in turbulent media [29, 30] (as, for instance, stated in Ref. [27]). However, even at that time it was already well known that one-point distributions of velocity fields and temperature fluctuations are close to Gaussian ones (see, for example, Ref. [31]). The term *intermittency* is certainly a telling one, and it characterizes the time variability of a random field at a fixed location in space, i.e., the variability of a random process with respect to its mean value.

At that time, certainly, it was also known that stochastic instability (parametric excitation) could occur in dynamical systems as a consequence of fluctuations in the internal parameters of the system. However, for a long time, up to the 1980s, nobody took interest in these questions. The achievement of the authors of Ref. [27] is that they, in all probability, were the first to draw attention to the possibility of stochastic structure formation as a consequence of such parametric excitation, which had been known at that time from various kinds of observations.

The abstract to paper [27] states, "The processes of instability in random media are characterized by formation of specific structures in which a growing quantity reaches *record*-high values. Despite the rareness of such concentrations namely they confine the main part of integral characteristics of a growing quantity (the mean value, the mean squared value, etc.). The appearance of such structures is referred to as the phenomenon of intermittency." Thus, in Ref. [27] strong rare outliers (fluctuations) are termed *specific structures*, while the process proper whereby these structures (outliers or fluctuations) form is called the phenomenon of *intermittency*.

In our understanding, *intermittency* is a general property of all random processes, independent of the amplitude of possible fluctuations, while *structure formation constitutes a certain type of evolution of stochastic dynamical systems in space and time*. Reference [27] treated these notions as identical. At present, for example, some scientists call large rare outliers (fluctuations) characteristic of both the stochastic linear and nonlinear Leontovich equations (see below) rogue (freak) waves (see, for example, the lectures by V E Zakharov [32]). A rogue wave is undoubtedly a phenomenon of spatio– temporal watermass clustering, and it should be considered on the basis of appropriate statistical analysis of the evolution of random fields.

It should be noted that the statistical theory of stationary extremal statistical processes is an independent branch of probability theory (see, for example, review [33]). However, in our opinion, this area has nothing to do with stochastic structure formation in space and time.

A fundamental feature of stochastic dynamical systems described by partial differential equations is that their solutions comprise random fields in space and time. The difficulty in explaining processes of structure formation in these systems is related to two factors. First, at any fixed point in space the random field constitutes a random process in time. Second, for any fixed instant of time, the random field represents a random process over its spatial coordinates. Intermittency (i.e., variability) occurs namely for random processes (with respect to time or spatial coordinate); it is a general property of any random process irrespective of the *nature of its origin*.

In this study, the intermittency of a random process is understood as a more or less uninterrupted alteration of outliers (fluctuations) of this process toward larger as well as lower values with respect to the deterministic curve-the *curve of typical realization*, which is the median of the integral probability distribution function (see Section 2.1). In this case, a lognormal, parametrically excited random process can exponentially decay with time in individual realizations (certainly, with some fluctuations), which corresponds to the phenomenon of dynamical localization. An exponential growth of a random process with time is also possible, which corresponds to the absence of dynamical localization. A peculiarity of a lognormal random process is the presence of rare anomalously high spikes (fluctuations) on the curves of the process (see Fig. 7), related to the long sloped 'tail' of the probability density (see Section 2). All traditional statistical characteristics, such as moment and correlation functions of arbitrary order, result from these fluctuations.

By introducing the notion of the typical realization curve for a random process, we return to the historical sense of the concept of intermittency, which is general for all random processes and has a strict probabilistic definition and a transparent physical sense.

Examples of stochastic dynamical systems. One of the simplest physical problems related to parametric excitation is that of diffusion of a particle or an ensemble of particles in a random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ with given statistical properties, in the kinematic approximation (see, for example, monographs [17–20], which provide an extensive bibliography of problems considered), diffusion described by the system of ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \mathbf{u}\big(\mathbf{r}(t), t\big), \qquad \mathbf{r}(0) = \mathbf{r}_0.$$
(5)

Numerical simulations of this problem indicate that the dynamics of the ensemble of particles can essentially differ, depending on whether the random velocity field is divergent or not. For a concrete realization of a nondivergent stationary velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r})$, particles (the two-dimensional case) uniformly spread in a circle only mix in the domain bounded by a deformed contour. The contour becomes only strongly filamented with time, acquiring a fractal character. For a potential velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r})$, particles uniformly spread over a square at the initial instant of time form cluster regions as the system evolves with time. We stress that cluster formation in this case is a purely kinematic effect. Obviously, on averaging over an ensemble of realizations of a random velocity field this feature of particle's dynamics will disappear.

The Anderson dynamical localization is also known for eigenfunctions of the one-dimensional stationary Schrödinger equation with a random potential [34, 35]. Accordingly, the dynamic localization of wave intensity takes place in a boundary-value problem related to waves in random layered media in a spatial interval $[L_0, L]$ [36]. This case is described by a stochastic Helmholtz equation

$$\frac{d^2 u(x)}{dx^2} + k^2 (1 + \varepsilon(x)) u(x) = 0$$
(6)

with the boundary conditions that the field and its derivative be continuous at the layer boundary:

$$u(L) + \frac{i}{k} \frac{du(x)}{dx}\Big|_{x=L} = 2, \quad u(L_0) - \frac{i}{k} \frac{du(x)}{dx}\Big|_{x=L_0} = 0.$$

As for random fields, we may introduce a generalization of lognormal random process (4), extending it to a lognormal random field according to the formula

$$f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha) = f_0(\mathbf{r}) \exp\left(-\alpha t + \int_0^t d\tau \, z(\mathbf{r},\tau)\right),\tag{7}$$

where $z(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the Gaussian random field delta-correlated in time with a zero mean and the correlation function

$$B_{z}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}', t - t') = \left\langle z(\mathbf{r}, t)z(\mathbf{r}', t') \right\rangle = 2D(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')\delta(t - t').$$
(8)

This field satisfies the first-order differential equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha) = \left(-\alpha + z(\mathbf{r},t)\right)f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha), \quad f(\mathbf{r},0;\alpha) = f_0(\mathbf{r}),$$
(9)

which parametrically depends on the position of point \mathbf{r} in space.

Notice that the studies [26, 27] on intermittency mentioned above considered the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}f(\mathbf{r},t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = z(\mathbf{r},t)f(\mathbf{r},t) + \mu_f \Delta f(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(10)

as their model problem, where μ_f is the dynamic diffusion coefficient for the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$. This equation with random breeding and diffusion is typical of problems in biology and the kinetics of chemical and nuclear reactions (see, for example, Ref. [37]).

If $f_0(\mathbf{r}) = 1$, all one-point statistical characteristics of this filed are independent of \mathbf{r} .

At the initial stage of diffusion, the solution to problem (10) is given by function (7) with $\alpha = 0$ and $f_0(\mathbf{r}) = 1$:

$$f(\mathbf{r},t) = \exp\left(\int_0^t \mathrm{d}\tau \, z(\mathbf{r},\tau)\right),\tag{11}$$

which is statistically equivalent to the random process y(t; 0) (4) for one-point statistical characteristics. As will be shown further, there is no structure formation in this case. But the general feature of intermittency remains.

It should be noted that adding the 'destruction' effect to equation (10) with the help of the term $-\alpha f(\mathbf{r}, t; \alpha)$ for $\alpha > 0$ leads to the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha) = \left(-\alpha + z(\mathbf{r},t)\right)f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha) + \mu_f \Delta f(\mathbf{r},t;\alpha), \quad (12)$$

the solution of which at the initial stage is already described by formula (7). In this case, as shown further, stochastic structure formation in the form of clustering becomes possible.

The inclusion of randomness into the medium parameters spawns stochasticity in the physical fields themselves. Individual realizations, for example, of lognormal scalar two-dimensional field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ (11), where $\mathbf{R} = \{x, y\}$, resemble a complex mountain landscape with randomly distributed peaks, troughs, ridges, and passes. Figure 8 illustrates examples of two numerically simulated realizations of random fields with different statistical structures.

Clustering in random physical fields arises first of all in problems of *turbulent transport* in a random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$. In particular, *clustering* may occur for both *a passive scalar tracer* (the field of density) [17–20, 38] and a *vector tracer* (magnetic field energy) in the framework of *kinematic approximation* [17–20, 39]. The input stochastic equations in these cases are the continuity equation for the tracer density field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$, viz.

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right) \rho(\mathbf{r}, t) = \mu_{\rho} \Delta \rho(\mathbf{r}, t) , \quad \rho(\mathbf{r}, 0) = \rho_0(\mathbf{r}) , \quad (13)$$

and the induction equation for the solenoidal magnetic field $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ [40]:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \left(\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right) \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) + \mu_H \Delta \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) ,$$

$$\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, 0) = \mathbf{H}_0(\mathbf{r}) ,$$
 (14)

where μ_{ρ} and μ_{H} are the dynamic diffusion coefficients for the density field and the magnetic field, respectively. Here, $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$



Figure 8. Realizations of (a) a Gaussian field $\ln f(\mathbf{r}, t)$, and (b) a lognormal field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ (11) and their topographic level lines. The thick contours correspond to zero isolines in panel (a), and to the unit field in panel (b).

is the field of turbulent velocities with given statistical properties, which is assumed to be homogeneous and isotropic in space, and stationary in time.

We stress that in the analysis of these and similar equations of mathematical physics, considered further in this article, we will not be interested in their direct solutions or physical mechanisms giving birth to one physical phenomenon or another. Our goal is to learn whether the input equations on their own contain information on the possibility (or impossibility) of stochastic structure formation in random media with a unit probability, i.e., for almost all realizations of their solutions.

It should be noted that a scalar density field always experiences clustering in a compressible fluid flow. Figure 9 displays the pattern of cluster structure of the Universe, taken from the Internet, which in all probability is directly related to the clustering of cosmic matter in random velocity fields. This question is discussed in Section 4.1.

The formation of stochastic structures may also take the form of a *caustic structure* of the wave field intensity in problems involving waves propagating in randomly inhomogeneous media in the framework of the Leontovich complexvalued stochastic parabolic equation (see, for example, Refs [17, 18, 41]):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}u(x,\mathbf{R}) = \frac{i}{2k}\Delta_{\mathbf{R}}u(x,\mathbf{R}) + \frac{ik}{2}\varepsilon(x,\mathbf{R})u(x,\mathbf{R}),$$

$$u(0,\mathbf{R}) = u_0(\mathbf{R}),$$
(15)



Figure 9. Cluster structure of the Universe.

where x is the coordinate in the direction of wave propagation, **R** is the coordinate in the transverse plane, and $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})$ is the deviation of dielectric constant from unity.

We mention that this same equation becomes a nonstationary Schrödinger equation with the random potential $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})$ on the replacement of x with time t.

If we introduce the amplitude and phase of a wave field according to the formula

$$u(x, \mathbf{R}) = A(x, \mathbf{R}) \exp(\mathbf{i}S(x, \mathbf{R})),$$



Figure 10. Caustics in a swimming pool (a), and in shallow water (b).

the equation for the wave field intensity $I(x, \mathbf{R}) = |u(x, \mathbf{R})|^2$ takes the following form:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}I(x,\mathbf{R}) + \frac{1}{k}\nabla_{\mathbf{R}}\{\nabla_{\mathbf{R}}S(x,\mathbf{R})I(x,\mathbf{R})\} = 0, \quad I(0,\mathbf{R}) = I_0(\mathbf{R}).$$
(16)

Equation (16) coincides in form with the continuity equation (13) for the tracer density field in a random potential flow in the absence of dynamic diffusivity and, accordingly, the wave field intensity should undergo clustering. This problem is discussed in more detail in Section 3.2.1.

It should also be emphasized that a nonlinear generalization of equation (15) which corresponds to a monochromatic nonlinear *problem on wave self-action* in randomly inhomogeneous media, is described by the Leontovich complex-valued nonlinear parabolic equation (the *nonlinear Schrödinger equation*)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}u(x,\mathbf{R}) = \frac{1}{2k}\Delta_{\mathbf{R}}u(x,\mathbf{R}) + \frac{k}{2}\varepsilon(x,\mathbf{R};I(x,\mathbf{R}))u(x,\mathbf{R}),$$

$$u(0,\mathbf{R}) = u_0(\mathbf{R}).$$
 (17)

For equation (17), the wave field intensity $I(x, \mathbf{R})$ is also described by equation (16) [but, clearly, with another phase function $S(x, \mathbf{R})$], so that the intensity should experience clustering, too.

In particular, since equation (16) does not depend on the form of function $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})$, then even if $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R}) = 0$ for the initial condition $u(0, \mathbf{R}) = u_0(\mathbf{R})$ the caustic structure formation, as is well known, takes place, which is regularly observed in swimming pools or in shallow water. In this case, equations (15) and (17) take the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} u(x, \mathbf{R}) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2k} \Delta_{\mathbf{R}} u(x, \mathbf{R}), \quad u(0, \mathbf{R}) = u_0(\mathbf{R}).$$

The solution to the last equation is the function

$$u(x, \mathbf{R}) = \exp\left(\frac{\mathrm{i}x}{2k} \Delta_{\mathbf{R}}\right) u_0(\mathbf{R})$$
$$= \frac{k}{2\pi \mathrm{i}x} \int d\mathbf{R}' \exp\left[\frac{\mathrm{i}k}{2x} (\mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}')^2\right] u_0(\mathbf{R}'), \qquad (18)$$

and for a plane incident wave the initial condition is $|u_0(\mathbf{R})| = 1$, i.e., the condition $u_0(\mathbf{R}) = \exp(iS_0(\mathbf{R}))$, where $S_0(\mathbf{R})$ is the field of the random initial phase. In this case, spatial fluctuations in the initial distribution of the wave

phase transform into a caustic structure in the wave field intensity. The case is known as the *random phase screen*. Examples of such clustering are given in Fig. 10.

Dynamical systems (13)–(17) are conservative and preserve integral characteristics such as the total tracer mass $M = \int d\mathbf{r} \rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$, the magnetic field flux $\int d\mathbf{r} \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, and wave field power $I = \int d\mathbf{R} I(x, \mathbf{R})$.

For homogeneous initial conditions $\rho_0(\mathbf{r}) = \rho_0$, $\mathbf{H}_0(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{H}_0$, and $u_0(\mathbf{R}) = u_0$, and for random parameters that are statistically homogeneous in space, the corollary of the conservative character of dynamical systems (13)–(17) is the equalities

$$\langle \rho(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = \rho_0, \quad \langle \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = \mathbf{H}_0, \quad \langle I(x,\mathbf{R}) \rangle = I_0 = |u_0|^2.$$

A peculiarity of equations (13) and (14) is the parametric excitation of both the density field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$ (in a compressible fluid flow) and the magnetic field energy $E(\mathbf{r}, t) = \mathbf{H}^2(\mathbf{r}, t)$ (for a turbulent flow of fluid) with time in *each realization*, which has come to be known as the *stochastic dynamo* (see, for example, Ref. [40]).

At the initial stages of dynamical system evolution such parametric excitation is accompanied by an increase with time of all traditional statistical characteristics of problem solutions, such as the moment function of the density field $\langle \rho^n(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle$ and magnetic field energy $\langle E^n(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle$, as well as their correlation functions of arbitrary order. As the distance is increased, the moments of radiation power $\langle I^n(x, \mathbf{R}) \rangle$ grow in random media as well.

The dynamic diffusion effects for the density and magnetic field are insignificant through the early phases of their evolution and, neglecting them, we arrive at the firstorder partial differential equations

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right) \rho(\mathbf{r}, t) = 0, \quad \rho(\mathbf{r}, 0) = \rho_0(\mathbf{r}), \quad (19)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \left(\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right) \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) ,$$
(20)

$$\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, 0) = \mathbf{H}_0(\mathbf{r}) .$$

However, namely at small times *spatial structures* may develop in individual realizations of respective fields!

As an illustration of structure formation in a magnetic field, we present Fig. 11 and an excerpt found on the web [42]:

"What does puzzle astrophysicists so strongly?

Contrary to hypotheses formed for fifty years, at the boundary of a planetary system observers encountered a

~



Figure 11. (Color online.) Magnetic field configuration on the boundary of a heliosphere as it looks, in all probability, in reality. A conditional interpretation (a), and a reconstruction of a magnetic bubble system (b).

boiling foam of locally magnetized areas each of hundreds of millions kilometers in extent, which form a nonstationary cellular structure in which magnetic field lines are permanently breaking and recombining to form new areas—*magnetic bubbles.*"

Questions touching stochastic structure formation for the magnetic field energy are considered in Section 4.2.2.

1.3 Statistical characteristics

of a random velocity field $u(\mathbf{r}, t)$

The random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ will be considered Gaussian, statistically homogeneous and isotropic in space, and stationary in time, with the respective correlation and spectral functions

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}', t - t') = \left\langle u_i(\mathbf{r}, t)u_j(\mathbf{r}', t') \right\rangle$$

=
$$\int d\mathbf{k} \, E_{ij}(\mathbf{k}, t - t') \exp\left[i\mathbf{k}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')\right],$$

$$E_{ij}(\mathbf{k}, t) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d\mathbf{r} \, B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}, t) \exp\left(-i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}\right).$$
 (21)

In the general case of an arbitrary random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, the spectral function $E_{ij}(\mathbf{k}, t)$ has the form

$$E_{ij}(\mathbf{k},t) = E^{\mathrm{s}}(k,t) \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{k_i k_j}{k^2}\right) + \frac{k_i k_j}{k^2} E^{\mathrm{p}}(k,t), \qquad (22)$$

where $E^{s}(k, t)$ and $E^{p}(k, t)$ are, respectively, the solenoidal and potential components of the velocity field spectral function.

The variance of the velocity field in this case takes the form

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^{2} = B_{ii}(\mathbf{0}, 0) = \int d\mathbf{k} \, E_{ii}(\mathbf{k}, 0)$$
$$= \int d\mathbf{k} \left[(d-1)E^{s}(k, 0) + E^{p}(k, 0) \right], \qquad (23)$$

where d is the space dimension, with implied summation taken over twice repeating indices.

Let us introduce the function

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, B_{ij}(\mathbf{r},\tau) \tag{24}$$

important for the further statistical analysis, which defines all the statistical characteristics of the problem solution in the diffusion approximation (see, for example, monographs [17–20]). Then, the following relations are valid:

$$B_{ii}(\mathbf{0}) = D_0 = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, B_{ii}(\mathbf{0}, \tau) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \int \mathrm{d}\mathbf{k} \, E_{ii}(\mathbf{k}, \tau)$$
$$= \sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 \tau_0 = \sigma_{\mathrm{s}}^2 \tau_{\mathrm{s}} + \sigma_{\mathrm{p}}^2 \tau_{\mathrm{p}} \,, \qquad (25)$$

where $\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2$ and τ_0 are the variance and the time correlation radius of a random velocity field, σ_s^2 and σ_p^2 are, respectively, the variances of the solenoidal and potential components of the velocity field, and τ_s and τ_p are their time correlation radii.

Later on, in a statistical analysis of the problem, we will need the second spatial derivatives of the correlation function of a random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ at the zero argument. By virtue of the assumptions about the characteristics of random field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, the following tensor equality holds for these derivatives (see, for example, monographs [17–20]):

$$\frac{\partial^2 B_{ij}(0)}{\partial r_k \partial r_l} = \frac{D^s}{d(d+2)} \left[(d+1)\delta_{kl}\delta_{ij} - \delta_{ki}\delta_{lj} - \delta_{kj}\delta_{li} \right] + \frac{D^p}{d(d+2)} \left(\delta_{kl}\delta_{ij} + \delta_{ki}\delta_{lj} + \delta_{kj}\delta_{li} \right), \quad (26)$$

where in the three-dimensional case the parameters D^{s} and D^{p} have the form

$$D^{s} = \int d\mathbf{k} \, k^{2} E^{s}(k) = 4\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \, k^{4} E^{s}(k)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \left\langle \boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{r}, t + \tau) \boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right\rangle,$$

$$D^{p} = \int d\mathbf{k} \, k^{2} E^{p}(k) = 4\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \, k^{4} E^{p}(k)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \left\langle \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t + \tau)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right\rangle,$$

(27)

where $\boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \operatorname{rot} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the vorticity, $\partial \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)/\partial \mathbf{r}$ is the divergence of velocity field, and

$$E^{\mathrm{s}}(k) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, E^{\mathrm{s}}(k,\tau) \,, \qquad E^{\mathrm{p}}(k) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, E^{\mathrm{p}}(k,\tau) \,.$$

The coefficients D^{s} and D^{p} , defined by relationships (27), can be written out through the statistical characteristics of the



Figure 12. Lognormal probability distributions (34) for the parameter $|\alpha|/D = 1$ and dimensionless time $\tau = Dt = 0.1$ and 1.

velocity field derivatives as

$$D^{s} = \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{2} \tau_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}, \qquad D^{p} = \sigma_{\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{u}}^{2} \tau_{\operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{u}}.$$
⁽²⁸⁾

We are interested in two examples of the random velocity field:

(1) incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence;

(2) potential hydrodynamic fields.

A particular case of the potential random field is exemplified by wave turbulence, where the correlation function of the velocity field is given by the following expression

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) = \int d\mathbf{k} \, \frac{k_i \, k_j}{k^2} \, E^{\mathrm{p}}(k) \exp\left(-\lambda k^2 t\right) \cos\left(\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r} - \omega(\mathbf{k})t\right),\tag{29}$$

where $\omega = \omega(\mathbf{k}) > 0$ defines the dispersion curve for wave motions, and the parameter λ describes wave damping.

The variance of the velocity field in this case takes the form

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^{2} = \left\langle \mathbf{u}^{2}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right\rangle = \int d\mathbf{k} \, E^{\mathbf{p}}(k) \,, \tag{30}$$

and the quantity analogous to that in formula (24) is defined as

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \, B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}, t)$$

= $\int \mathrm{d}\mathbf{k} \, \frac{k_i k_j}{k^2} \left[E_1^{\mathrm{p}}(k) \cos\left(\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}\right) + E_2^{\mathrm{p}}(k) \sin\left(\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}\right) \right], \quad (31)$

where

$$E_{1}^{p}(k) = E^{p}(k) \frac{\lambda k^{2}}{\lambda^{2} k^{4} + \omega^{2}(k)},$$

$$E_{2}^{p}(k) = E^{p}(k) \frac{\omega(k)}{\lambda^{2} k^{4} + \omega^{2}(k)}.$$
(32)

The detection and description of the phenomenon of spatial structure formation (clustering) in individual realizations of random fields prove to be possible only by analyzing one-time and one-point probability densities of solutions to equations given above if one resorts to the ideas of statistical topography. We consider first the statistical description of lognormal random processes.

2. Lognormal processes, intermittency, and dynamical localization

The one-time probability density $P(y, t; \alpha) = \langle \delta(y(t; \alpha) - y) \rangle$ of lognormal process (4) obeys the Fokker–Planck equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(y,t;\alpha) = \left(\alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial y} y + D \frac{\partial}{\partial y} y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} y\right) P(y,t;\alpha),$$

$$P(y,0;\alpha) = \delta(y-1),$$
(33)

the solution of which, naturally, depends on the parameter α :

$$P(y,t;\alpha) = \frac{1}{2y\sqrt{\pi Dt}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\ln^2\left[y\exp\left(\alpha t\right)\right]}{4Dt}\right\}.$$
 (34)

Probability distribution (34) implies a substantially different behavior for $\alpha > 0$ and $\alpha < 0$. The common feature in both cases is only the appearance of long, moderately sloping 'tails' at large *t*, indicating an increasing role of large excursions of processes $y(t; \alpha)$ in the formation of one-time statistics. The plots of logarithmically normal probability densities (34) for $\alpha > 0$ and $\alpha < 0$ for the parameter $|\alpha|/D = 1$ and dimensionless time $\tau = Dt = 0.1$ and 1 are given in Fig. 12.

Accordingly, the integral probability distribution function is given by the expression

$$F(y,t;\alpha) = \int_{-\infty}^{y} dy' P(t;y') = \mathcal{P}(y(t;\alpha) < y)$$
$$= \Pr\left\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2Dt}}\ln\left[y\exp\left(\alpha t\right)\right]\right\},$$
(35)

where the function Pr(z) is the *probability integral* defined as

$$\Pr\left(z\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{z} dx \, \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2}\right). \tag{36}$$

Obviously $Pr(\infty) = 1$ and Pr(0) = 1/2. The asymptotic form of the probability integral for $z \to \pm \infty$ can easily be found from expression (36), namely

$$\Pr(z)_{z \to \infty} \approx 1 - \frac{1}{z\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{z^2}{2}\right),$$

$$\Pr(z)_{z \to -\infty} \approx \frac{1}{|z|\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{z^2}{2}\right).$$
(37)

From equation (33), we can also easily derive the equality

$$\alpha = -\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\partial \langle \ln y(t;\alpha) \rangle}{\partial t} \,. \tag{38}$$

It follows then that the parameter α in equation (33) coincides with the Lyapunov characteristic exponent (38) for the lognormal random process $y(t; \alpha)$ (4) (see, for example, reviews [43, 44]).

2.1 Typical realization curve of a random process

The statistical characteristics of the process z(t) at a fixed time instant t are described by the probability density P(z, t) and the integral probability distribution function $F(Z, t) = \int_{-\infty}^{Z} dz' P(z', t)$.

The typical realization curve for the random process z(t) is referred to as the deterministic curve $z^*(t)$, which is the *median of the integral probability distribution function* and is defined through the solution of the algebraic equation

$$F(z^*(t), t) = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (39)

This implies, on the one hand, that for any time instant *t* the probability $\mathcal{P}\{z(t) > z^*(t)\} = \mathcal{P}\{z(t) < z^*(t)\} = 1/2$.

On the other hand, the median has a specific property that for any interval (t_1, t_2) the random process z(t) 'winds round' the curve $z^*(t)$ so that the mean time during which $z(t) > z^*(t)$ coincides with that when the reverse inequality $z(t) < z^*(t)$ is true (Fig. 13), i.e. one has

$$\langle T_{z(t)>z^*(t)} \rangle = \langle T_{z(t)$$

The curve $z^*(t)$, needless to say, may differ essentially from any individual realization of the process z(t) and does not describe the amplitude of possible excursions. Thus, the typical realization curve $z^*(t)$ of a random process z(t), obtained with the help of the one-time probability density, is defined nevertheless over the entire time interval $t \in (0, \infty)$, and is namely that deterministic curve relative to which the intermittency is enfolding.

The typical realization curve (39) for a Gaussian random process z(t) coincides with the expectation of the process z(t), i.e., $z^*(t) = \langle z(t) \rangle$, while the typical realization curve for a lognormal process $f(t) = \exp(z(t))$ is defined by the equality

$$f^{*}(t) = \exp\left(\langle z(t) \rangle\right) = \exp\left(\langle \ln f(t) \rangle\right).$$



Figure 13. Regarding the definition of a typical realization curve for a random process.

As a consequence, the typical realization curve of lognormal process (4) is described by the formula

$$f^{*}(t) = \exp\left(\left\langle \ln f(t) \right\rangle\right) = \exp\left(-\alpha t\right)$$

which coincides with the Lyapunov exponential function.

For $\alpha > 0$, the typical realization curve decays exponentially with time and, in the opposite case, $\alpha < 0$, grows exponentially; namely these functions are plotted in Fig. 7 with dashed lines. At $\alpha = 0$, the intermittency takes place with respect to the line $f^*(t) = 1$.

2.2 Dynamical localization

We note that for one-dimensional problems the positivity of the Lyapunov characteristic index α corresponds well to the physical phenomenon of dynamical localization (clustering).

For the problem involving diffusion of an ensemble of particles (5) in a Gaussian random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, the typical realization curve for the distance between two particles is given by the exponential function of time:

$$U^{*}(t) = l_0 \exp\left\{\frac{1}{d(d+2)} \left[D^{s}d(d-1) - D^{p}(4-d)\right]t\right\},$$
 (40)

where *d* is the space dimension, and the coefficients D^{s} and D^{p} are described by formulas (27) (see, for example, Refs [17–20]).

From the last formula, it follows that in the twodimensional case (d = 2) the expression

$$l^{*}(t) = l_{0} \exp\left[\frac{1}{4}(D^{s} - D^{p})t\right]$$

substantially depends on the sign of the difference $D^s - D^p$. In particular, for a nondivergent velocity field $(D^p = 0)$, we have an exponentially growing typical realization curve, which corresponds to particles running away exponentially fast at small distances between them. In the other limiting case — for a potential velocity field $(D^s = 0)$ — the typical realization curve will be an exponentially decaying one; hence, the obvious tendency of particles to 'coalesce'. Thus, the condition for clustering in the two-dimensional case reduces to holding the inequality $D^s < D^p$.

In the three-dimensional case (d = 3), from Eqn (40) it follows that

$$l^{*}(t) = l_{0} \exp\left[\frac{1}{15}(6D^{s} - D^{p})t\right],$$

and the typical realization curve will decay with time if the condition $D^{p} > 6D^{s}$, which is more demanding than in the two-dimensional case, is satisfied.

In the one-dimensional case, one finds $l^*(t) = l_0 \exp(-D^p t)$, and the typical realization curve always decays with time, for in this case the velocity field is always potential.

For a boundary-value problem (6) dealing with a plane wave incident on a half-space of a random layered medium, the wave field intensity $I(x) = |u(x)|^2$ is a lognormal random process with the typical realization curve $I^*(x) =$ $2 \exp [-D(L-x)]$, where the parameter $D = k^2 \sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 l_0 / 2$ (σ_{ε}^2 is the $\varepsilon(x)$ process variance, and l_0 is its correlation radius) for the model of Gaussian random process $\varepsilon(x)$ with the correlation function $\langle \varepsilon(x)\varepsilon(x')\rangle = 2D\delta(x-x')$. The coefficient of wave transmission through a sufficiently thick layer of a random medium decays exponentially for the problem considered, and the half-space of a randomly inhomogeneous medium $(L_0 \rightarrow -\infty)$ completely reflects the wave incident on it. In this case, the wave field intensity I(x) is statistically equivalent to the random process $2y(t; \alpha)$ at $\alpha = D$, and its realization resembles the mirror reflection of Fig. 7 ($\alpha > 0$). And yet, certainly, the moments of wave field intensity exponentially grow with distance from the wave source into the medium. We mention that in monograph [35] this effect was established through the analysis of the Lyapunov exponent for the problem at hand, which matches the typical realization curve for the lognormal process.

We also mention that the quantity inverse to the diffusion coefficient D of this problem, defining a natural length scale related to medium random inhomogeneities, is commonly termed the *localization length*, $l_{loc} = 1/D$.

3. Lognormal fields, statistical topography, and clustering

3.1 Lognormal random fields

Let us consider now a positive lognormal random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$, whose one-point probability density

$$P(\mathbf{r}, t; f) = \left\langle \delta \left(f(\mathbf{r}, t) - f \right) \right\rangle$$

is governed by the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(\mathbf{r}, t; f) = \left(D_0 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} + \alpha \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f + D_f \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f \right) P(\mathbf{r}, t; f)$$
(41)

with the initial condition $P(\mathbf{r}, 0; f) = \delta(f - f_0(\mathbf{r}))$, where D_0 is the diffusion coefficient in the **r**-space, and the coefficients α and D_f characterize diffusion in the *f*-space. The parameter α can both differ from zero and be equal to it (the critical case). The change in the sign of α for one-point characteristics implies the transition from the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ to the field $\tilde{f}(\mathbf{r}, t) = 1/f(\mathbf{r}, t)$.

The solution of equation (41) is written out as follows:

$$P(\mathbf{r}, t; f) = \frac{1}{2f\sqrt{\pi D_f t}} \exp\left(D_0 t \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2}\right) \\ \times \exp\left\{-\frac{\ln^2\left[f \exp\left(\alpha t\right)/f_0(\mathbf{r})\right]}{4D_f t}\right\}.$$
 (42)

Note that for a positive conservative random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ satisfying the condition $\int d\mathbf{r} f(\mathbf{r}, t) = \int d\mathbf{r} f_0(\mathbf{r})$, the parameter $\alpha = D_f$ and equation (41) can be recast as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(\mathbf{r}, t; f) = \left(D_0 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} + \alpha \frac{\partial^2}{\partial f^2} f^2 \right) P(\mathbf{r}, t; f) .$$
(43)

Needless to say, the property of intermittency is always exhibited by any random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$, as well. For any fixed point in space \mathbf{r} , the temporal evolution of $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is a random process for which all the above holds.

For a spatially, statistically homogeneous problem which corresponds to the initial field distribution $f_0(\mathbf{r}) = f_0$, no onepoint statistical characteristics of the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ depend on the point \mathbf{r} , and the positivity of the index

$$\alpha = -\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{\partial \langle \ln f(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle}{\partial t}$$

for the lognormal field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ implies that, at any location in space, the realizations of this field decay with time despite large rare excursions, which occur for a lognormal process. In this case, the characteristic time of field decay is $t \sim 1/\alpha$. But if the field decays almost everywhere, it must be concentrated somewhere, i.e., clustering should take place. For a negative parameter α , the field grows at every fixed point in space.

In the last case, probability density (42) does not depend on \mathbf{r} and is described by the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(t;f) = \left(\alpha \, \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f + D_f \, \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f \, \frac{\partial}{\partial f} f \right) P(t;f) \,,$$

$$P(0;f) = \delta(f - f_0),$$
(44)

with the solution

$$P(t;f) = \frac{1}{2f\sqrt{\pi D_f t}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\ln^2\left[f \exp\left(\alpha t\right)/f_0\right]}{4D_f t}\right\}.$$
 (45)

Thus, for a spatially homogeneous problem statement, the one-point statistical characteristics of a random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ are statistically equivalent to those of the lognormal process $f(t; \alpha)$ with the probability density (45). A specific feature of this distribution is the appearance of a long gently sloping 'tail' for $D_f t \ge 1$, which indicates the increased role of large fluctuations of the process $f(t; \alpha)$ in forming one-time statistics (see Fig. 12). For this distribution, all moment functions exponentially grow with time and, in particular, at n = 1 and for $D_f > \alpha$ the expectation is given by

$$\langle f(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = f_0 \exp\left[(D_f - \alpha)t \right],$$

whereas the quantity α is the Lyapunov characteristic index.

Figure 14 plots schematically random realizations of the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ for the parameter α with different signs.

One can describe spatial clustering in almost any realization of the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ by resorting to the ideas of statistical topography.



Figure 14. Schematics of the behavior of random realizations of the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ for $\alpha > 0$ and $\alpha < 0$.

3.2 Statistical topography of random fields

The main subject of study in the statistical topography of random fields, just as in the traditional topography of massifs, is a system of contours—isolines (in the twodimensional case) or isosurfaces (in three dimensions) defined by the equality $f(\mathbf{r}, t) = f = \text{const.}$

To analyze the system of contours (we limit ourselves to the two-dimensional case $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R}$ for simplicity), it is convenient to introduce the Dirac delta-function constrained to these contours:

$$\varphi(\mathbf{R}, t; f) = \delta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f), \qquad (46)$$

called the indicator function.

Such quantities as the total area bounded by the level lines of the areas where the random field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ exceeds the given level f, i.e., $f(\mathbf{R}, t) > f$:

$$S(t;f) = \int d\mathbf{R} \,\theta \big(f(\mathbf{R},t) - f \big) = \int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' \,\varphi(\mathbf{R},t;f') \,,$$

and the total 'mass' of the field comprised in these regions, namely

$$M(t; f) = \int d\mathbf{R} f(\mathbf{R}, t) \theta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f)$$

=
$$\int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' f' \varphi(\mathbf{R}, t; f'),$$

where $\theta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f)$ is the Heaviside theta-function, may be expressed in terms of function (46).

The mean value of the indicator function (46) over an ensemble of realizations of the random field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ defines the one-time and one-point in space probability density [17–20]

$$P(\mathbf{R},t;f) = \left\langle \delta \left(f(\mathbf{R},t) - f \right) \right\rangle,\,$$

which directly sets the ensemble mean values of quantities S(t; f) and M(t; f):

$$\langle S(t;f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' P(\mathbf{R},t;f') ,$$

$$\langle M(t;f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' f' P(\mathbf{R},t;f') .$$

Information on the detailed structure of field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ can be obtained by additionally considering its spatial gradient $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t) = \nabla f(\mathbf{R}, t)$. So, for example, the quantity

$$l(t; f) = \oint dl = \int d\mathbf{R} \left| \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t) \right| \delta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f)$$
(47)

describes the total length of contours. The integrand in Eqn (47) is described by the extended indicator function

$$\varphi(\mathbf{R}, t; f, \mathbf{p}) = \delta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f) \delta(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t) - \mathbf{p}), \qquad (48)$$

and the mean value of l(t; f) [see formula (47)] is related to the joint one-time probability density of field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and its gradient $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t)$, which is obtained by averaging the indicator function (48) over an ensemble of realizations, which gives the function

$$P(\mathbf{R}, t; f, \mathbf{p}) = \left\langle \delta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f) \, \delta(\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t) - \mathbf{p}) \right\rangle$$

By additionally considering spatial derivatives of the second order, the total number of contours $f(\mathbf{R}, t) = f =$ const can be estimated with the help of approximate formula (up to not-closing lines)

$$N(t; f) = N_{\rm in}(t; f) - N_{\rm out}(t; f)$$

= $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\mathbf{R} \,\kappa(t, \mathbf{R}; f) |\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t)| \delta(f(\mathbf{R}, t) - f), \quad (49)$

where $N_{in}(t; f)$ $(N_{out}(t; f))$ is the number of contours for which the vector **p** is directed along the inner (outer) normal, and $\kappa(t, \mathbf{R}; f)$ is the curvature of the level line.

3.2.1 Conditions of cluster structure formation. We now discuss the conditions of stochastic structure formation in parametrically excited random fields. It is clear that for a *positive field* $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ *in general* the condition of cluster formation with a unit probability, i.e., for almost all realizations, is the simultaneous tendency of being fulfilled, as $t \to \infty$, for asymptotic equalities

$$\langle S(t;f) \rangle \to 0, \quad \langle M(t;f) \rangle \to \int \mathrm{d}\mathbf{R} \langle f(\mathbf{R},t) \rangle.$$

The lack of structure formation corresponds to the simultaneous tendency towards satisfying the asymptotic equalities as $t \to \infty$:

$$\langle S(t;f) \rangle \to \infty, \quad \langle M(t;f) \rangle \to \int \mathrm{d}\mathbf{R} \langle f(\mathbf{R},t) \rangle.$$

For a spatially homogeneous field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$, the one-point probability density $P(\mathbf{R}, t; f)$ does not depend on **R**; in this case, statistical means of all the expressions (without integration over **R**) will describe specific (per unit area) values of the respective quantities.

Thus, the specific mean area $\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t; f) \rangle$, where the random field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ exceeds a given level f, coincides with the event probability at any point in space, $f(\mathbf{R}, t) > f$:

$$\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t;f) \rangle = \langle \theta(f(\mathbf{R},t)-f) \rangle = \mathcal{P}\{f(\mathbf{R},t) > f\}$$

so that the mean specific area offers a geometric interpretation of the probability of the event $f(\mathbf{R}, t) > f$, which is, clearly, independent of point **R**. As a consequence, the conditions of clustering for the *homogeneous* case reduce to the tendency of being valid, as $t \to \infty$, for asymptotic equalities

$$\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t;f) \rangle = \mathcal{P}\{f(\mathbf{r},t) > f\} \rightarrow 0, \quad \langle m_{\text{hom}}(t;f) \rangle \rightarrow \langle f(t) \rangle,$$

whereas the absence of clustering is linked to the tendency of being valid, as $t \to \infty$, for the asymptotic equalities

$$\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t;f) \rangle = \mathcal{P}\{f(\mathbf{r},t) > f\} \rightarrow 1, \quad \langle m_{\text{hom}}(t;f) \rangle \rightarrow \langle f(t) \rangle.$$

Thus, clustering in a spatially homogeneous problem is a phenomenon (occurring with a unit probability, i.e., for almost all realizations of a random positive field) spawned by a rare event occurring with vanishing probability.

In this case, the mere presence of rare events serves as a *trigger* which initiates the structure formation process, *while the structure formation on its own is the intrinsic property of a random medium*, i.e., is in essence the *law of Nature* [21–24].

The characteristic time of cluster structure formation in space is determined by the character of the asymptotic expressions given above at large times. Now, this time is



Figure 15. Photos of the cluster structure in a cloudy sky: (a) cluster structure close to an 'ideal' one, and (b) 'deformed' clusters. The black stripes in the bottom corners are parts of a ground-based antenna. Photos are taken on 15 June and 2 August 2013 at 21:00 on the coast of the Sea of Azov. (Courtesy of V A Dovzhenko.)

defined not only by the Lyapunov statistical characteristic index α , but also by the diffusion coefficient D_f in phase space of a positive field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$. It is certainly larger than the characteristic time of realization decay at any fixed point in space.

For concrete physical dynamical systems, the description of clustering in physical fields reduces, therefore, to computation of the stochastic Lyapunov index α and diffusion coefficient D_f , which is, generally speaking, a rather tedious task for concrete partial differential equations.

In the presence of clustering, the field is simply absent over a large portion of space! It should be clear that the conditions above on the presence or absence of clustering in the field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ have nothing to do with the parametric growth of statistical characteristics like moment or correlation functions of arbitrary order, as time progresses.

The above criterion of ideal clustering (in analogy with ideal fluid dynamics) corresponds to the dynamics of cluster formation in dynamical systems governed, generally speaking, by partial differential equations of the first order (the Eulerian representation). This ideal structure emerges as a very narrow band (in the two-dimensional case) or very narrow tubes (in the three-dimensional case).

Notice that the first-order partial differential equations can be solved in general by the methods of characteristics. This corresponds to the Lagrangian description of dynamical systems. In this case, the characteristic curves described by ordinary differential equations can, naturally, have different peculiarities and even singularities. The conditions for the appearance of such peculiarities in the Lagrangian description do not have direct connections to the phenomenon of clustering in space and time, i.e., in the Eulerian representation.

However, in real physical systems, various additional factors related to the generation of spatial derivatives of a random field may become visible later; they *distort* but *do not eliminate* this picture of clustering. In particular, a situation is possible where the respective probability density approaches steady-state regime $P(\mathbf{R}; f)$ as $t \to \infty$. In this case, the functionals of the form

$$\langle S(f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' P(\mathbf{R}; f') ,$$

$$\langle M(f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{R} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' f' P(\mathbf{R}; f')$$

cease to describe further distortions of the cluster picture. We need to study the temporal evolution of the functionals related to the spatial derivatives of the field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$, such as the total contour length and the number of contours.

As an example of 'ideal' and 'deformed' clustering in Nature, we present here photos of the cluster structure of a cloudy sky¹ (Fig. 15) and a lava lake in volcano craters (Fig. 16). We note that a statistical theory describing volcanic lava dynamics, as far as we know, does not exist at all. A similar pattern is demonstrated by structures (Figs 17, 18) related to the parabolic Leontovich (Schrödinger) equation (15) (see, for example, monographs [17–20]).

To begin with, we note that if a plane wave propagates in a random medium, then in the approximation that the random field $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})$ is delta-correlated in the longitudinal direction and its correlation function $B_{\varepsilon}(x - x', \mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}') =$ $\langle \varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})\varepsilon(x', \mathbf{R}') \rangle$ has the form

$$B_{\varepsilon}(x,\mathbf{R}) = A(\mathbf{R})\delta(x), \quad A(\mathbf{R}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x \, B_{\varepsilon}(x,\mathbf{R}),$$

equation (15) for the mean field $\langle u(x, \mathbf{R}) \rangle$ and the second-order coherence function

$$\Gamma_2(x,\mathbf{\rho}) = \left\langle u\left(x,\mathbf{R}+\frac{1}{2}\,\mathbf{\rho}\right) u^*\left(x,\mathbf{R}-\frac{1}{2}\,\mathbf{\rho}\right) \right\rangle$$

lead to the expressions

$$\langle u(x, \mathbf{R}) \rangle = u_0 \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma x}{2}\right),$$

 $\Gamma_2(x, \mathbf{\rho}) = |u_0|^2 \exp\left(-\frac{k^2 x D(\rho)}{4}\right),$

which do not depend on the wave field diffraction; here, $\gamma = (k^2/4)A(0)$ is the *extinction coefficient*, and the function $D(\rho) = A(0) - A(\rho)$ is linked to the structure function of the random field $\varepsilon(x, \mathbf{R})$. Simultaneously, a statistical scale ρ_{cog} called the *coherence radius of field* $u(x, \mathbf{R})$ and defined by the condition $(1/4)k^2xD(\rho_{cog}) = 1$ appears in the plane perpendicular to the direction of wave propagation. The coherence radius depends on the wavelength, the distance travelled by the wave, and the medium statistical parameters.

¹ Yet there is no particle clustering in the Lagrangian description!



Figure 16. (a) A lake of boiling lava in the Nyiragongo Crater in the Great Lakes region of Africa (http://www.boston.com/bigpicture/2011/02/ nyiragongo_crater_journey_to_t.html). (b) Lava lake in Halema'uma'u Crater on Kilauea (Photo courtesy of Hawaiian Volcano Observatory, USGS). These images can be found on the sites http://bigpicture.ru/?p-128340, http://pacificislandparks.com/2010/01/20/more-amazing-lava-lake-photos/.



Figure 17. Transverse section of a laser beam passing through a turbulent medium (under laboratory conditions) in the region of strong focusing (a), and in the region of strong (saturated) fluctuations (b).



Figure 18. Results of numerical modeling with the help of a system of phase screens (18): (a) transverse section of a laser beam propagating through a turbulent medium in the region of strong focusing (a), and in the region of strong (saturated) fluctuations (b).

Notice that a complete solution to the problem of computation of the statistical characteristics of solutions to equation (15) for $x \to \infty$ was found already in 1977 in Ref. [45] (see also Refs [17–20, 46]) by resorting to the continual integral representation of solutions to equation (15).

Obviously, the probability distribution for the wave field intensity has a lognormal character if the distance travelled by the incident plane wave remains small, and in this case the stochastic structure formation (clustering) ensues.

As the distance increases, the nonlinear character of the equation for the complex-valued phase needs to be taken into account. This region of fluctuations, referred to as *the region* of strong focusing, is extremely difficult for analytical analyses. For even larger distances of wave propagation, the statistical characteristics of wave intensity reach a saturated regime; the respective spatial domain is referred to as the region of strong intensity fluctuations.

In this region, the statistical characteristics of wave field intensity cease to depend on the distance and take the form $(u_0 = 1)$

$$\langle I^n(x, \mathbf{R}) \rangle = n!, \quad P(x, I) = \exp(-I).$$

Reference [45] computed the spatial correlation function of wave field intensity $I(x, \mathbf{R}) = |u(x, \mathbf{R})|^2$ for $x \to \infty$ $(\mathbf{\rho} = \mathbf{R}' - \mathbf{R}'')$:

$$B_{I}(x, \mathbf{\rho}) = \left\langle I(x, \mathbf{R}') I(x, \mathbf{R}'') \right\rangle - 1 = \left| \Gamma_{2}(x, \mathbf{\rho}) \right|^{2}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\frac{k^{2}x}{2} D(\rho)\right), \qquad (50)$$

which is also independent of the wave field diffraction. Now, in this problem, in addition to the spatial scale ρ_{cog} , a second characteristic spatial scale appears, $r_0 = x/(k\rho_{cog})$. However, numerous attempts by experimenterlists, continuing into the present, to associate these scales with the patterns displayed in Figs 17 and 18 have not led to success. And it is clear why! Clustering of the wave field intensity is certainly affected by diffraction, which is, however, in no way reflected in the form of its correlation function (50).

From the standpoint of statistical topography, the mean specific area of regions inside which $I(x, \mathbf{R}) > I$ and the mean specific power confined there are constant and in the limit of $x \to \infty$ do not describe the behavior of wave field intensity in individual realizations. Besides, no information is gained in this case by transition to the statistically equivalent random process. For this case, an explanation of the wave field structure in individual realizations was proposed only 20 years later (in 1997) in Ref. [47] (see also Refs [17-20]), by resorting to the analysis of such quantities as the specific mean length of contours and specific mean number of contours of wave field intensity, which are described by functionals like (47) and (49) and are connected with spatial derivatives of wave field intensity. These functions continue to increase with distance also in the region of strong intensity fluctuations, and, consequently, contour fragmentation takes place, as observed in laboratory experiments and through numerical modeling as well.

3.2.2 Statistical topography of lognormal random fields. In the analysis of one-point statistical characteristics in the spatially

homogeneous case, it is generally rewarding to take into account that the random field $f(\mathbf{R}, t)$ is statistically equivalent to some random process f(t) with the same statistical characteristics.

If a one-point probability density of the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ (42) is known, one can also obtain general information on the spatial structure of random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$. In particular, such functionals of the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ as the common mean volume (in three dimensions) or area (in two dimensions) of the region, where $f(\mathbf{r}, t) > f$, and the common mean 'mass' of the field comprised there, are described as

$$\langle V(t,f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{r} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' P(\mathbf{r},t;f'),$$

$$\langle M(t,f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{r} \int_{f}^{\infty} df' f' P(\mathbf{r},t;f').$$

The values of these functionals do not depend on diffusion in the **r**-space (the coefficient D_0), and for probability distribution (42) we find the expressions

$$\langle V(t,f) \rangle = \int d\mathbf{r} \operatorname{Pr} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Dt}} \ln \left[\frac{f_0(\mathbf{r})}{f} \exp(-\alpha t) \right] \right\},$$

$$\langle M(t,f) \rangle = \exp\left[(D-\alpha)t \right]$$

$$\times \int d\mathbf{r} f_0(\mathbf{r}) \operatorname{Pr} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Dt}} \ln \left(\frac{f_0(\mathbf{r})}{f} \exp\left[(2D-\alpha)t \right] \right) \right\},$$

$$(51)$$

where the probability integral Pr(z) is defined by equality (36).

Taking now into account the asymptotics of function Pr(z) (37), one can analyze how functionals (51) evolve with time. Namely, for $t \to \infty$, the asymptotics of the mean volume decays with time, for $\alpha > 0$, according to the law

$$\langle V(t,f) \rangle \approx \frac{1}{\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi f^{\alpha/D} t}} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha^2 t}{4D}\right) \int d\mathbf{r} \sqrt{f_0^{\alpha/D}(\mathbf{r})}$$

For $\alpha < 0$, the mean volume occupies the entire space as $t \to \infty$.

For the common mean 'mass', in the limit $t \to \infty$ we get the asymptotics (in the most interesting case — if $\alpha < 2D$)

$$\langle M(t,f) \rangle \approx \exp\left[(D-\alpha)t \right] \int d\mathbf{r} f_0(\mathbf{r}) \\ \times \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{2D-\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi t} \left(\frac{f}{f_0(\mathbf{r})}\right)^{(2D-\alpha)/D}} \exp\left[-\frac{(2D-\alpha)^2 t}{4} \right] \right\}.$$

As a consequence, for $\alpha > 0$, clusters contain the overall mean 'mass' in the limit $t \to \infty$.

For homogeneous initial conditions, the respective expressions taken without integration over \mathbf{r} describe the specific values of the volume comprising large excursions and their common 'mass' per unit volume, i.e.

$$\langle v_{\text{hom}}(t,f) \rangle = \langle \theta \left(f(\mathbf{r},t) - f \right) \rangle = \mathcal{P} \left\{ f(\mathbf{r},t) > f \right\}$$

$$= \Pr \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Dt}} \ln \left[\frac{f_0}{f} \exp \left(-\alpha t \right) \right] \right\},$$

$$\langle m_{\text{hom}}(t,f) \rangle = f_0 \exp \left[(D-\alpha)t \right]$$

$$\times \Pr \left\{ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Dt}} \ln \left(\frac{f_0}{f} \exp \left[(2D-\alpha)t \right] \right) \right\}.$$

$$(52)$$

If we select a section level $f > f_0$, then at the initial instant of time $\langle v_{\text{hom}}(0, f) \rangle = 0$ and $\langle m_{\text{hom}}(0, f) \rangle = 0$. Spatial perturbations of the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ evolve later, and in the limit $t \to \infty$ we arrive at the asymptotic expressions $(2D > \alpha)$

$$\langle v_{\text{hom}}(t,f) \rangle = \mathcal{P}\left\{ f(\mathbf{r},t) > f \right\}$$

$$\approx \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi t} \left(\frac{f_0}{f}\right)^{\alpha/D}} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha^2 t}{4D}\right), & \alpha > 0, \\ 1 - \frac{1}{|\alpha|} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi t} \left(\frac{f}{f_0}\right)^{|\alpha|/D}} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha^2 t}{4D}\right), & \alpha < 0, \end{cases}$$
(53)

$$\langle m_{\text{hom}}(t,f) \rangle \approx f_0 \exp\left[(D-\alpha)t \right]$$

$$\times \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{2D-\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi t} \left(\frac{f}{f_0}\right)^{(2D-\alpha)/D}} \exp\left[-\frac{(2D-\alpha)^2 t}{4D} \right] \right\}.$$
(54)

Thus, for $\alpha > 0$, the specific common volume tends to zero, while the specific common 'mass' confined within it tends to the mean 'mass' in the entire space. This corresponds to the criterion of structure formation with a unit probability through 'ideal clustering' of the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ being considered. In this case, the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is practically absent in the dominant part of the space. The field characteristic decay time at any fixed point in space can be estimated as $\alpha t \sim 1$, and the characteristic time of field cluster structure formation as $\alpha t \sim \max \{4\xi, 4\xi/(2\xi - 1)^2\}$, where $\xi = D/\alpha$.

If $\alpha < 0$, clustering is lacking and only general amplification of the random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ takes place everywhere in space. Thus, *chaos remains chaos in that case*! Only zeros of field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ cluster.

Let us mention that the following theorem holds.

A conservative positive parametrically excited lognormal field in a statistically homogeneous case always produces clusters with a unit probability, i.e., for almost all its realizations.

Indeed, in this case, $f(\mathbf{r}, t) = \exp(\ln f(\mathbf{r}, t))$; hence, one has

$$\langle f(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = \langle \exp\left(\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)\right) \rangle = \exp\left(\langle \ln f(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)}^2\right)$$

where $\sigma_{\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)}^2$ is the variance of the random field $\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)$. Now taking into account the conservative character of this field leads to

$$\langle \ln f(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)}^2 = \ln f_0,$$

and we find for the typical realization curve

$$f^{*}(\mathbf{r},t) = \exp\left(\left\langle \ln f(\mathbf{r},t)\right\rangle\right) = f_{0} \exp\left(-\alpha t\right),$$

where the Lyapunov characteristic parameter

$$\alpha = \lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{1}{2t} \,\sigma_{\ln f(\mathbf{r},t)}^2 > 0\,,$$

and the problem is that of computing it from the respective dynamic equation. Since, as pointed out earlier, for the conservative field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ the parameter $\alpha = D$ [see Eqn (43)], the characteristic time of cluster structure formation is $\alpha t \sim 4$, which is four times larger than the characteristic field decay time at almost any point in space.

For instance, for cluster formation in a density field, we have dynamic equation (19).

With complex-valued parabolic equation (15), we have the equation for the wave field intensity—the continuity equation (16) and, consequently, introducing the amplitude level as $\chi(\mathbf{R}, x) = \ln A(\mathbf{R}, x)$, we find for a plane wave the Lyapunov exponent in the form

$$I^*(\mathbf{R}, x) = I_0 \exp\left(-2\alpha x\right),$$

where the parameter

$$\alpha = \lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{1}{x} \, \sigma_{\chi(\mathbf{R},x)}^2 \,,$$

and $\sigma_{\chi(\mathbf{R},x)}^2$ is the variance of the amplitude level, computed in the framework of the first approximation of the smooth perturbation method proposed by S M Rytov (see, for example, books [17–20]).

As an application of the theory elaborated here, we consider concrete physical stochastic transport phenomena in random media spawned through the parametric action of the medium on the respective dynamical system.

4. Stochastic transport phenomena in a random velocity field

4.1 Clustering of the density field in a random velocity field

Stochastic structure formation in a spatially homogeneous statistical problem on diffusion of the density field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$ in a random velocity field is described by equation (19). In this case, the one-point probability density of field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is independent of spatial coordinate \mathbf{r} and is described by the following equation (see, for example, Refs [17–20])

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}P(t;\rho) = D_{\rho} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \rho^2} \rho^2 P(t;\rho), \quad P(0;\rho) = \delta(\rho - \rho_0), \quad (55)$$

where the diffusion coefficient in the ρ -space, $D_{\rho} = D^{p}$, is given by equality (27). Equation (55) coincides with equation (44) at the fulfillment of equalities

$$\alpha = D = D_{\rho} = D^{\mathrm{p}},$$

where the quantity D^p is determined by the potential spectral component of the velocity field. Consequently, the one-point probability density of the density field is lognormal, with the probability density and respective integral distribution function:

$$P(t;\rho) = \frac{1}{2\rho\sqrt{\pi\tau}} \exp\left\{-\frac{\ln^2\left[\rho \exp\left(\tau\right)/\rho_0\right]}{4\tau}\right\},$$

$$F(t;\rho) = \Pr\left\{\frac{\ln\left[\rho \exp\left(\tau\right)/\rho_0\right]}{2\sqrt{\tau}}\right\},$$
(56)

where the parameter $\tau = D_{\rho}t$.

For one-point characteristics of the density field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$, as already pointed out, the problem is statistically equivalent to the analysis of a random process, and in this case all the moment functions at any fixed point in space grow exponentially with time for n > 0, as well as for n < 0:

$$\langle \rho(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = \rho_0, \quad \langle \rho^n(\mathbf{r},t) \rangle = \rho_0^n \exp\left[n(n-1)\tau\right],$$
 (57)

and the typical realization curve for the density field, which coincides with the Lyapunov exponent, exponentially decays with time at any fixed point in space:

$$\rho^*(t) = \exp\left(\left\langle \ln \rho(\mathbf{r}, t)\right\rangle\right) = \rho_0 \exp\left(-\tau\right)$$

which indicates that the density field decays with a unit probability (i.e., in almost all realizations of the density field) in arbitrary divergent flows at any fixed point in space. Then, the characteristic decay time for the density field $\tau \sim 1$. Note that equation (55) for the probability density corresponds to the Eulerian description of a density field. It should be recalled that in the Lagrangian description of the density field the system of characteristic curves (particles) (5) does not necessarily undergo clustering (see Section 2.2).

The formation of density field statistics at any fixed point in space (moment and correlation functions) occurs through density field fluctuations around the typical realization curve. Thus, in the case of a compressible flow (in a divergent velocity field) the density field always undergoes clustering with a unit probability. The specific mean area (volume) of the region where $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t) > \rho$ is expressed as

$$\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t,\rho) \rangle = \int_{\rho}^{\infty} d\rho' P(t;\rho') = \mathcal{P} \{ \rho(\mathbf{r},t) > \rho \}$$
$$= \Pr \left\{ \frac{\ln \left[\rho_0 \exp \left(-\tau \right) / \rho \right]}{\sqrt{2\tau}} \right\},$$
(58)

and the specific mean 'mass' of the tracer confined in this region is described as

$$\frac{\langle m_{\text{hom}}(t,\rho) \rangle_{\text{hom}}}{\rho_0} = \frac{1}{\rho_0} \int_{\rho}^{\infty} \rho' \, d\rho' \, P(t;\rho')$$
$$= \Pr\left\{ \frac{\ln\left[\rho_0 \exp\left(\tau\right)/\rho\right]}{\sqrt{2\tau}} \right\}.$$
(59)

From Eqns (58) and (59) it follows that for $\tau \ge 1$ the mean specific area (volume) decays according to the law

$$\langle s_{\text{hom}}(t,\rho) \rangle = \mathcal{P}\left\{\rho(\mathbf{r},t) > \rho\right\} \approx \sqrt{\frac{\rho_0}{\pi\rho\tau}} \exp\left(-\frac{\tau}{4}\right), \quad (60)$$

whereas almost all tracer 'mass' is accumulated within it:

$$\frac{\left\langle m_{\text{hom}}(t,\rho)\right\rangle}{\rho_0} \approx 1 - \sqrt{\frac{\rho}{\pi\rho_0\tau}} \exp\left(-\frac{\tau}{4}\right),\tag{61}$$

which corresponds to the physical phenomenon of density field clustering in a random velocity field. As follows from formulas (60) and (61), the characteristic time of cluster structure formation in the tracer field is four times that of the characteristic decay time for the density field at any fixed point in space ($\tau \sim 4$).

Note that even in an incompressible fluid, the density field will experience clustering in hydrodynamic flows if the tracer is 'buoyant', if the finite inertia of the density field is taken into account, and for multiphase fluid flows, i.e., always when a potential spectral component arises in the tracer velocity field, which is different from the velocity field of the fluid proper. This case corresponds, for example, to a cloudy sky (see Fig. 15), where the nature of stochastic character of air masses is completely irrelevant—be it developed convection or atmospheric turbulence. Judging by the time the photo was taken (see Fig. 15), we have the second case. But there is no particle clustering in the *Lagrangian description*!

Thus, for the continuity equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right) \rho(\mathbf{r}, t) = 0, \qquad \rho(\mathbf{r}, 0) = \rho_0(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (62)$$

describing the density field of a passive scalar tracer $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$ moving in a random hydrodynamic flow with the velocity $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ and having a potential component, tracer clustering always occurs with a unit probability independently of the dynamic equation governing the velocity field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$.

For example, in the case of tracer $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$ with low inertia, the velocity field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ can be described by the phenomenological equation (see Ref. [48])

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}}\right) \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\lambda \left[\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) - \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right], \qquad (63)$$

where $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the velocity field of the hydrodynamic flow itself, and the parameter $\tau = 1/\lambda$ is the known Stokes time depending on the size of tracer particles and molecular viscosity. Equation (63) is that of a *simple wave* with linear friction and a random force related to the hydrodynamic flow. A peculiarity of this equation consists in the fact that it is valid only in the asymptotic limit $\lambda \to \infty$. This implies that the parameter $\lambda \tau_0 \ge 1$, where τ_0 is the temporal correlation radius for the hydrodynamic velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ and, consequently, the approximation of temporally delta-correlated field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is inapplicable for the statistical problem description, and the finiteness of the temporal correlation radius τ_0 for the field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ needs to be taken into account.

Under the assumption that the variance of the random velocity field $\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 = \langle \mathbf{u}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle$ is sufficiently small for large values of parameter λ (low inertia of particles), equation (63) can be linearized with respect to the function $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) \approx \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, and we then arrive at a simpler vector equation

$$\begin{split} &\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t)\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}}\right)\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r},t) \\ &= -\left(\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r},t)\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}}\right)\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) - \lambda\left[\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r},t) - \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t)\right]. \end{split}$$

In this approximation, the probability density of the density field is described by an equation like Eqn (43):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(\mathbf{r}, t; \rho) = \left(D_0 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} + D_\rho \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \rho^2} \rho^2 \right) P(\mathbf{r}, t; \rho),$$

$$P(\mathbf{r}, 0; \rho) = \delta(\rho_0(\mathbf{r}) - \rho),$$
(64)

where D_0 and D_ρ are the diffusion coefficients:

$$D_{0} = \frac{1}{d} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \left\langle \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t+\tau) \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right\rangle = \frac{1}{d} \tau_{\mathbf{V}} \left\langle \mathbf{V}^{2}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right\rangle,$$

$$D_{\rho} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \left\langle \frac{\partial \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t+\tau)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right\rangle = \tau_{\text{div}\,\mathbf{V}} \left\langle \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle,$$
(65)

and $\tau_{\mathbf{V}}$ and $\tau_{\operatorname{div}\mathbf{V}}$ are the temporal correlation radii for the random fields $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ and $\partial \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)/\partial \mathbf{r}$.

For an incompressible fluid flow in the diffusion approximation, diffusion coefficients (65) are described by the expressions [48]

$$D_{0} = \frac{1}{d} \tau_{\mathbf{V}} \langle \mathbf{V}^{2}(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle = \frac{1}{d} \tau_{0} B_{ii}(0, 0) = \frac{d-1}{d} \tau_{0} \int d\mathbf{k} E(k, 0) ,$$

$$D_{\rho} = \tau_{\text{div}\,\mathbf{V}} \left\langle \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)}{\partial \mathbf{r}} \right)^{2} \right\rangle = \frac{4}{\lambda} \frac{d^{2} - 1}{d(d+2)} D_{1} D_{2}(\lambda) ,$$
(66)

where the coefficient

$$D_1 = -\frac{\tau_0}{d-1} \left\langle \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \Delta \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right\rangle$$

does not depend on the parameter λ . The coefficient $D_2(\lambda)$, if $\lambda \tau_0 \gg 1$, is defined by the expression

$$D_2(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{\lambda(d-1)} \left\langle \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) \,\Delta \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) \right\rangle.$$

Thus, we see that the coefficient $D_{\rho} \sim \sigma_{u}^{4}$ in equation (64). And the vortex component of field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ first generates the vortex component of the field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ by a direct linear mechanism without a contribution from advection, and only then do the vortex component of the field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ generate a divergent component of the field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ through the advection mechanism.

Note that for particles with low inertia in the presence of buoyancy and gravity forces the tracer velocity field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ in the hydrodynamic flow $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is described by the equations (see, for example, Ref. [49])

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{r}}\right) \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\lambda \left[\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) - \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)\right] + \mathbf{g} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_0}{\rho_p}\right),$$
(67)

where g is the gravitational acceleration, and ρ_p and ρ_0 are the densities of tracer particles and the medium, respectively.

The velocity \mathbf{v} of tracer sedimentation or floating up, directed, as a rule, vertically, is determined by the balance between the buoyancy and viscous friction forces for a moving tracer and is described by the formula

$$\frac{\mathbf{g}}{\lambda} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_0}{\rho_p} \right) = \mathbf{v} \,.$$

Writing now $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, where $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ are the fluctuations of a tracer velocity field with respect to \mathbf{v} , for the system of equations (62) and (67) the one-point probability density $P(\mathbf{r}, t; \rho)$ is described by equation (64), where the diffusion coefficient $D_{\rho}(\mathbf{v})$, depending on the sedimentation velocity \mathbf{v} , is now given by the expression [50]

$$D_{\rho}(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{4(d+1)}{d(d+2)(d-1)\lambda^2} \frac{\partial^2 B_{zz}^{(\mathbf{u})}(\mathbf{0},0)}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \; \frac{\partial^2 B_{\beta\beta}^{(\mathbf{u})}(\mathbf{v}\tau,\tau)}{\partial \mathbf{r}^2} \,.$$
(68)

Consequently, the presence of tracer sedimentation leads to a reduction in the diffusion coefficient $D_{\rho}(\mathbf{v})$, i.e., to a larger clustering time. In reality, the clustering of sedimenting weakly inertial particles explains numerous phenomena in Nature, for example, the spot structure of radioactive precipitation after the Chernobyl catastrophe (see, for example, Ref. [51]). The spotty structure of sand precipitation over the Indian Ocean after sand storms in African deserts is also well known.

We note that in review [52], dealing with the large-scale structure of the Universe, the vector equation of a simple

wave (63), with no right-hand side but under the assumption that the velocity field $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is potential, is 'glued' to the continuity equation (62). The randomness in this case is attributed to fluctuations in the initial conditions. Clearly, in this case the tracer field undergoes clustering with a probability of unity in almost every its realization. However, the compliance of this fact with the observed distribution of galaxies can in no way be treated as confirmation of the relevance of the velocity field model used, based on the simple wave equation.

We stress that the clustering of a tracer field with a unit probability is realized for any model of a velocity field (linear or nonlinear) in the presence of a potential component in the velocity field.

4.2 Probabilistic description of a magnetic field and its energy in a random velocity field

4.2.1 Probabilistic description of a magnetic field. Let us consider now a probabilistic description of a magnetic field based on dynamic equation (20) in a statistically homogeneous case. Just as for the density field, we will assume that the random component of a velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is a divergent (div $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t) \neq 0$) random Gaussian field, homogeneous and isotropic in space and stationary delta-correlated in time.

In this case, the one-point probability density of vector magnetic field $P(t; \mathbf{H})$, which does not depend on the spatial variable **r**, is described by the equation [17–20, 25, 39]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} P(t; \mathbf{H}) = \left\{ D_1 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial H_k \partial H_l} H_l H_k + D_2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial H_l \partial H_l} H_k^2 \right\} P(t; \mathbf{H}),$$
(69)

where D_1 and D_2 are the diffusion coefficients in the {H}-space:

$$D_1 = rac{(d^2-2)D^{\,\mathrm{p}}-2D^{\,\mathrm{s}}}{d(d+2)}\,, \quad D_2 = rac{(d+1)D^{\,\mathrm{s}}+D^{\,\mathrm{p}}}{d(d+2)}\,.$$

Equation (69) governs the dynamics of mean energy $\langle E(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle = \langle \mathbf{H}^2(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle$ with time and yields the expression for the covariance of the magnetic field components $\langle W_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle = \langle H_i(\mathbf{r},t)H_j(\mathbf{r},t)\rangle$:

$$\begin{split} \left\langle E(\mathbf{r},t)\right\rangle &= E_0 \exp\left[2\,\frac{d-1}{d}(D^{\,\mathrm{s}}+D^{\,\mathrm{p}})t\right],\\ \frac{\left\langle W_{ij}(\mathbf{r},t)\right\rangle}{\left\langle E(\mathbf{r},t)\right\rangle} &= \frac{1}{d}\,\delta_{ij} + \left(\frac{W_{ij}(0)}{E_0} - \frac{1}{d}\delta_{ij}\right)\\ &\times \exp\left[-2\,\frac{(d+1)D^{\,\mathrm{s}}+D^{\,\mathrm{p}}}{d+2}\,t\right]. \end{split}$$

Thus, the mean magnetic field energy grows exponentially with time, and the isotropization of the magnetic field also develops exponentially. Note that the spectral components of the velocity field enter these exponents in an additive way. Obviously, this feature is preserved for all other correlations of the magnetic field and its energy.

4.2.2 Probabilistic description of magnetic field energy. The probability density of magnetic field energy P(t; E) in a spatially homogeneous case is defined by the equality

$$P(t; E) = \left\langle \delta \left(E(\mathbf{r}, t) - E \right) \right\rangle_{\mathbf{u}} = \left\langle \delta \left(\mathbf{H}^{2}(\mathbf{r}, t) - E \right) \right\rangle_{\mathbf{H}}$$

As a result, we get an equation which coincides with equation (44) [17–20, 25, 39], taken with the parameters

$$\alpha = 2 \frac{d-1}{d+2} (D^{p} - D^{s}), \quad D = 4(d-1) \frac{(d+1)D^{p} + D^{s}}{d(d+2)}.$$

The parameter α can differ from zero (being positive or negative) or be equal to it (the critical case).

The probability density is described by formula (34) for an initial spatially homogeneous energy distribution.

Thus, in this case, the one-point statistical characteristics of energy $E(\mathbf{r}, t)/E_0$ are statistically equivalent to the characteristics of a random process E(t) with probability density (34).

The characteristic feature of distribution (34) lies in the appearance of a long sloping tail for $Dt \ge 1$, implying an increased role of large outliers of the process E(t) in forming its one-time statistics. For this distribution, all the moments of magnetic field energy, namely

$$\langle E^n(t) \rangle = E_0^n \exp\left[-2n \frac{d-1}{d+2} (D^p - D^s) t + 4n^2 (d-1) \frac{(d+1)D^p + D^s}{d(d+2)} t\right],$$

grow exponentially with time for n > 0, as well as for n < 0; in particular, at n = 1, the mean specific energy is written as

$$\langle E(t) \rangle = E_0 \exp\left[\frac{2(d-1)}{d}(D^{\mathrm{p}} + D^{\mathrm{s}})t\right],$$
(70)

or in a more suitable representation as

$$\left\langle \ln \frac{E(t)}{E_0} \right\rangle = -\alpha t = -2 \frac{d-1}{d+2} (D^{p} - D^{s}) t$$

The parameter α is, hence, the *Lyapunov characteristic index*. In this regard, the *typical realization curve* for the random process E(t), determining the behavior of magnetic field energy in concrete realizations, is exponential at any fixed spatial location:

$$E^*(t) = E_0 \exp(-\alpha t) = E_0 \exp\left[-2\frac{d-1}{d+2}(D^p - D^s)t\right],$$

and either grows or decays with time. So, for $\alpha > 0$ ($D^p > D^s$) the typical realization curve decays exponentially at all spatial locations, which points to the cluster structure of a magnetic field in its individual realizations of a magnetic field energy; the growth of moments in this case is brought about by rare, yet strong, ejections of energy with respect to the typical realization curve.

For $\alpha < 0$ ($D^{p} < D^{s}$), the typical realization curve grows exponentially with time, which points to a general increase in the magnetic field energy at each point in space. Clustering in the magnetic field energy does not happen in this case. Note that namely this case is realized for an incompressible magnetohydrodynamic flow ($D^{p} = 0$); hence, *there is no structure formation in the incompressible case*.

The respective asymptotic expressions for the specific values of the volume of large ejections and their total energy, for homogeneous initial conditions, have the form of expressions (53) and (54) with the change $f \rightarrow E$.

This implies that for $\alpha > 0$ ($D^{p} > D^{s}$) the specific total volume tends to zero, while the specific total energy inside it coincides with the mean energy in the entire space. The latter points to clustering of magnetic field energy with a probability one, i.e., in almost all magnetic field realizations. Consequently, the magnetic field is simply absent over a larger portion of the space.

When $\alpha < 0$ ($D^{\rm p} < D^{\rm s}$), clustering does not happen, and there is only a general increase in the magnetic field energy everywhere in space. Note that, in this case, the inverse quantity, 1/E, undergoes clustering, i.e., clusters of compact regions appear from where the magnetic field is expelled (magnetic zeros).

We mentioned earlier that the parameters D^{p} and D^{s} characterizing statistics of the random velocity field enter all statistical moment and correlation functions of the magnetic field energy in an additive way. This is, certainly, the consequence of equations (14) and (20) being linear. However, this fact implies that all the main (functional) relationships in such a statistical description do not distinguish between the influence of solenoidal and potential components of the random velocity field. This means that all the relationships derived for the mentioned statistical quantities have the same structure for both incompressible $(D^{p} = 0)$ and purely potential $(D^{s} = 0)$ flows. Nevertheless, since clustering is absent for an incompressible flow and, conversely, is present for a potential one, it is absolutely clear that the statistical characteristics mentioned above do not contain any information on the stochastic structure formation in individual realizations of magnetic field energy, namely, on clustering.

Furthermore, the input induction equation (14) is valid within the applicability limits of the kinematic approximation. In the presence of clustering, when the magnetic field is absent over a larger portion of space, its back reaction on the velocity field is not essential. In contrast, in the absence of clustering, when the magnetic field is generated everywhere in space, the kinematic approximation can be valid only over a small time interval, and discussing the role of the dynamic diffusion coefficient in forming the statistics of magnetic field energy in this interval is, in our opinion, simply not serious.

4.2.3 The critical case of a = 0 ($D^{p} = D^{s}$). This case can be considered as *pseudoequilibrium*, in analogy with the case of equilibrium thermal noise [53, 54]. At $\alpha = 0$, the one-point probability density takes the form

$$P(t; E) = \frac{1}{2E\sqrt{\pi Dt}} \exp\left[-\frac{\ln^2\left(E/E_0\right)}{4Dt}\right].$$

The random processes E(t) and 1/E(t) are statistically equivalent. The specific mean volume tends to half of the total volume as $t \to \infty$, and the specific mean energy tends to the total mean energy.

Thus, clustering does not happen at $\alpha = 0$ ($D^{p} = D^{s}$) in the framework of equation (44). It is worth mentioning that this result does not seem satisfactory, for equation (44) is itself approximate, obtained under the assumption that the random velocity field is delta-correlated in time.

Accounting for the finiteness of the time correlation radius allows unequivocally judging the presence or lack of the physical phenomenon of *clustering*. The results of dedicated computations have shown that accounting for the finite time correlation radius of a velocity field clustering occurs with a probability one [54]. An analogous situation also takes place for random acoustic waves if they are not damped.

Thus, a random Gaussian acoustic field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$, statistically homogeneous and isotropic in space and stationary in time, is described by the correlation and spectral tensors $(\tau = t - t')$:

$$\langle u_i(\mathbf{r},t)u_j(\mathbf{r}',t')\rangle = \sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}',\tau) = \sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 \int d\mathbf{k} E_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) f(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r},\tau),$$

where $\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 = \langle \mathbf{u}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle$ is the variance of the velocity field, and the function

$$f(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r}, \tau) = \exp\left(-\lambda(k)\tau\right)\cos\left(\mathbf{kr} - \omega(k)\tau\right),$$

where $\omega(k) = ck$ is the dispersion law for acoustic waves, and *c* is the speed of sound.

The exponentially decaying term is related to dissipative factors in equations of fluid dynamics and magnetohydrodynamics, and $\lambda(k) = \lambda_p k^2$.

Here, the velocity field spectral tensor contains only the potential component $E_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = E(k)k_i k_j/k^2$. And, since the time integral for $\lambda_p \ll cl_0$ (where l_0 is the spatial correlation radius of the velocity field) has the asymptotics

$$\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t f(k,t) = \frac{\lambda_\mathrm{p}}{c^2} \,,$$

clustering of the magnetic field energy occurs with a probability one (i.e., in almost all its realizations) in the presence of small absorption.

In the absence of dissipation, the diffusion coefficient in equation (44) becomes zero, and we do not have any information on the presence or absence of *clustering*. In general, however, the following equality is valid in the absence of dissipation:

$$\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t\,\cos\big(\omega(k)t\big) = \pi\delta\big(\omega(k)\big)\,,$$

owing to which resonances emerge between various harmonics of the acoustic wave field in higher approximations. This allows establishing in the second order of the functional perturbation method (after cumbersome manipulations) that clustering of magnetic field energy occurs with a unit probability (i.e., in almost all its realizations), and computing the characteristic time it takes for clustering to set up, $t \sim 1/\alpha_2$, where the Lyapunov characteristic parameter [54] is given by

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2}{c^2} \int d\mathbf{k} \, k^2 E(k) \left(\frac{4}{5} \, \lambda_{\mathrm{p}} + 76\pi^2 \, \frac{\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2}{c} \, k^2 E(k)\right).$$

Notice that there is no clustering of magnetic field energy in an equilibrium thermal velocity field.

We also mention that analogous computations for the density field of the passive tracer in random wave fields have indicated the presence of clustering with a probability one [55].

5. Model of a stochastic velocity field allowing analytical solutions to transport problems

Let us now consider a simple model velocity field of the form

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{v}(t) f(\mathbf{kr}) \,,$$



Figure 19. Spatio-temporal evolution of the Eulerian density field, described by formula (74).

where $\mathbf{v}(t)$ is a Gaussian vector random *white noise* process, and $f(\mathbf{kr})$ is a periodic function. Selecting the x-axis in the direction of vector \mathbf{k} , we see that in the framework of this model the velocity field depends on a single spatial coordinate, i.e., $f(\mathbf{kr}) = f(kx)$. Notice that the velocity field model of the form

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{v}(t)\sin\left(2\mathbf{kr}\right),\tag{71}$$

proposed for the fist time in review [56], made possible the derivation of an analytical solution for continuity equation (19) for the scalar density field $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t)$, as well as a solution of equation (20) for the vector magnetic field and, consequently, gave the possibility of tracing the onset and evolution of cluster formation in these fields in individual realizations of the random velocity field. We note that this form of function $f(\mathbf{kr})$, corresponding to the first term of its expansion in harmonics, is routinely used in numerical simulations related to the problem.

In numerical modeling of various phenomena, a model of Gaussian vector random process $\mathbf{v}(t)$, delta-correlated in time, has been used, with the parameters

$$\langle \mathbf{v}(t) \rangle = 0, \quad \langle v_i(t)v_j(t') \rangle = 2\sigma^2 \delta_{ij} \tau_0 \delta(t-t'),$$
 (72)

where σ^2 is the variance for each velocity component, and τ_0 its temporal correlation radius. We will adopt dimensionless

variables

$$t \to k^2 \sigma^2 \tau_0 t$$
, $x \to kx$, $\langle v_i(t) v_j(t') \rangle \to 2\delta_{ij}\delta(t-t')$. (73)

5.1 Model of passive tracer diffusion

The solution of equation (19) for the density field in the case considered has the form [56]

$$\frac{\rho(x,t)}{\rho_0} = \frac{1}{\exp(T(t))\cos^2(kx) + \exp(-T(t))\sin^2(kx)},$$
 (74)

where $T(t) = 2k \int_0^t d\tau v_x(\tau)$ is the Wiener random process.

From expression (74), it can be seen that the density field is small everywhere except for the vicinities of points $kx = n\pi/2$, where $\rho(x, t)/\rho_0 = \exp(\pm T(t))$, i.e., the field is rather strong close to these points, granted the sign of the random factor T(t).

Thus, in the problem considered, the cluster structure of the density field in the Euler description forms in the vicinity of points

$$kx = n \frac{\pi}{2}$$
, $n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots$

The results of simulations of space-time evolution experienced by a realization of the Euler density field $1+\rho(x,t)/\rho_0$ (unity is added to eliminate difficulties in logarithmic representation for densities approaching zero) are presented in Fig. 19 in dimensionless variables (73). This



Figure 20. Dynamics of cluster disappearance at the point 0 and cluster emergence at the point $\pi/2$. The circle stands for the time instant t = 10.4, triangle for t = 10.8, and square for t = 11.8.

figure explicitly illustrates a gradual flow of the density field to the vicinities of points $x \approx 0$ and $x \approx \pi/2$, i.e., the formation of clusters at locations where the relative value of the density is large, whereas it is close to zero in the remaining space. Notice that at time instants *t*, such that T(t) = 0, the realization of the density field passes through the initial homogeneous state.

5.2 Turbulent dynamo model

For induction equation (20) and model (71) considered here, the *x*-component of the magnetic field is preserved, i.e., $H_x(\mathbf{r}, t) = H_{x0}$, and the transverse magnetic field component $\mathbf{H}_{\perp}(x, t)$ satisfies the equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + v_x(t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}f(x)\right)\mathbf{H}_{\perp}(x,t) = \mathbf{v}_{\perp}(t)\frac{\partial f(x)}{\partial x}H_{x0}$$
(75)

with the initial condition $\mathbf{H}_{\perp}(x,0) = \mathbf{H}_{\perp 0}$; its solution can be written in a statistically equivalent form (at $\mathbf{H}_{\perp 0} = 0$) as

$$\mathbf{H}_{\perp}(x,t) = 2kH_{x0} \\ \times \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \, \frac{\exp\left(T(\tau)\right)\cos^{2}\left(kx\right) - \exp\left(-T(\tau)\right)\sin^{2}\left(kx\right)}{\left[\exp\left(T(\tau)\right)\cos^{2}\left(kx\right) + \exp\left(-T(\tau)\right)\sin^{2}\left(kx\right)\right]^{2}} v_{x}(\tau)\mathbf{v}_{\perp}(\tau) \,.$$
(76)

The expression on the right-hand side of formula (76) describes the generation of magnetic field $H_{\perp}(x, t)$ in the transverse plane (y, z) because of the presence of the initial field H_{x0} . And at $\mathbf{H}_{\perp 0} = 0$, field $H_{\perp}(x, t)$, proportional to the square of the random velocity field, defines the situation. The structure of field $H_{\perp}(x, t)$, similarly to that of density field, also experiences clustering, which is confirmed by the results of numerical simulations (see Refs [39, 57] and the monographs [17–20]), presented in dimensionless variables (73) in Fig. 20a, which plots the cluster share of the generated magnetic field energy with respect to the total energy in the layer at a given time instant, and in Fig. 20b, where we see the dynamics of how perturbations in magnetic energy flow from one domain boundary to the other one.

Let us point out a specific feature of equation (75). In this case, the parametric excitation of the magnetic field is accompanied by the *Gaussian generation* of the field itself. We now turn to the statistical analysis of this simple problem.

6. Parametrically excited dynamical systems with Gaussian pumping

6.1 Statistical analysis of simple turbulent dynamo problem with Gaussian pumping

The equation for the one-point in space and one-time probability density of magnetic field energy, written for dimensionless time (see Refs [39, 57] and monograph [17–20]), which corresponds to linear equation (75), is written as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} P(\tau; E) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial E} E + 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E + 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E + 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E \frac{\partial}{\partial E}\right) P(\tau; E),$$
(77)

with the initial condition $P(0; E) = \delta(E - \beta)$.

For the last equation, the large-time asymptotics for the moments of magnetic field energy were obtained in the form

$$\langle E^n(\tau) \rangle \sim A_n \exp\left[n(2n-1)\tau\right],$$

which corresponds to the lognormal law for the probability density with a correction that accounts for the Gaussian field generation. Also, the expression for the Lyapunov exponent

$$\exp\left(\left\langle \ln E(\tau)\right\rangle\right) = \beta \exp\left(-\tau\right)$$

was derived, which indicates that the magnetic field energy decays at any point in space, i.e., that the clustering proceeds.

The last term in equation (77) is responsible for the generation of a Gaussian magnetic field, which dominates the magnetic field energy generation at small times. We present below the related equation and solutions for these times, bounded to the case of two dimensions which is of interest to us [58].

The equation for the probability density of the twodimensional Gaussian vector field $\mathbf{H}_{\perp}(\mathbf{R}, t)$ for the spatially homogeneous case takes the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} P(\tau; \mathbf{H}_{\perp}) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \mathbf{H}_{\perp}^2} P(\tau; \mathbf{H}_{\perp}) \,,$$

and its solution is written as

$$P(\tau; \mathbf{H}_{\perp}) = \frac{1}{2\pi\tau} \exp\left(-\frac{\mathbf{H}_{\perp}^2}{2\tau}\right).$$



Figure 21. Probability density (77) for the time (a) $\tau = 0.3$ (curve *I*) and $\tau = 1.7$ (curve *2*). The thin lines correspond to the Gaussian distribution (78) for $\tau = 0.3$ (curve *I'*) and $\tau = 1.7$ (curve *2'*). (b) The same as in panel a, but for the time $\tau = 1.7$ (curve *2*), $\tau = 5.0$ (curve *3*), and $\tau = 8.3$ (curve *4*).

Respectively, on this short time interval, the probability density for the transverse energy $E = \mathbf{H}_{\perp}^{2}(\mathbf{R}, t)$, defined as

$$P(\tau; E) = \frac{1}{2\tau} \exp\left(-\frac{E}{2\tau}\right),\tag{78}$$

is described by the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} P(\tau; E) = 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial E} E \frac{\partial}{\partial E} P(\tau; E) \,.$$

As a consequence, the integral probability distribution function is governed by the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \, \varPhi(\tau; E) = 2E \, \frac{\partial^2}{\partial E^2} \, \varPhi(\tau; E) \,,$$

the solution of which is written out as

$$\Phi(\tau; E) = 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{E}{2\tau}\right).$$
(79)

This relationship leads directly to the following expression for the typical realization curve:

$$E^*(\tau) = (2\ln 2)\tau \,.$$

Clearly, for clustering to occur, the typical realization curve of a respective process must decay, in contrast to linear growth for a Gaussian process. From Fig. 21, which displays the results of a numerical solution of equation (77), it can be seen that at the initial stage the probability density of the magnetic field energy decays approximately as the Gaussian distribution, and the decay rate decreases with time, i.e., the process of Gaussian field generation prevails. At times of about $\tau = 1.7$, the situation changes: at larger times, clustering begins to play an important role, i.e., the rate of decrease in probability density begins to increase with time as the energy increases, just like its value at zero.

Consider now the integral probability function for the magnetic field energy. From equation (77), we obtain in a regular way the equation for its evolution:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \Phi(\tau; E) = \left[E + 2E \frac{\partial}{\partial E} (E+1) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial E} \Phi(\tau; E) \,. \tag{80}$$

A numerical solution to the last equation is given in Fig. 22a; it indicates that at relatively small times, approximately until $\tau = 1.7$, the rate of increase in the integral function decreases with time, which is characteristic of the Gaussian distribution. At larger times, the rate of increasing begins to increase, which is characteristic of the lognormal distribution.

This observation is illustrated more transparently by the typical realization curve. We see in Fig. 22b that for $\tau \ge 3.0$ the typical realization curve decays for the process described by equation (77), indicating the presence of clustering. It is noteworthy that the process of clustering manifests itself even earlier, but it prevails over the generation from approximately this time instant.

Figure 23a plots the time dependence of the specific area of the regions where the magnetic field energy exceeds the maximum level of the typical realization curve, i.e., E > 2. In the case of Gaussian distribution, this area tends to unity, which testifies to a lack of clustering; however, in the presence of a magnetic field, the area begins to decrease, which points to the beginning of clustering at times $\tau \approx 1.7$. Figure 23b shows the time dynamics of the specific energy (normalized to the total energy at the respective time instant) confined in these regions, thus confirming the phenomenon of clustering.

6.2 Anomalous sea surface structures

Recent decades have seen an increased interest in such phenomena as anomalously large waves, also called rogue or freak waves (see, for example, Refs [59, 60]). There are many ideas on the mechanisms and methods to describe this phenomenon [59–62]. We presume that different mechanisms may exist, and not all of them deserve to be called anomalously high waves. For example, the development of such waves against the background of sufficiently high sea waves is apparently related to nonlinear effects (see, for example, Refs [63–66] and references cited therein). Different dynamic models are being studied based on numerical modeling, as well as on analytical results related to the nonlinear Schrödinger equation. The statistical properties of observed anomalous waves are also intensely being discussed (see, for example, the review [61]).

We propose a possible mechanism for the emergence of anomalous structures on the water surface, which may



Figure 22. (a) Integral probability function (80) for three moments of dimensionless time: $\tau = 0.3$ (curve *I*), $\tau = 1.7$ (curve *2*), and $\tau = 5.0$ (curve *3*). The thin curves 1' - 3' correspond to the Gaussian distribution for the same time instants. (b) Typical realization curves for magnetic field energy (*I*) and a Gaussian process (1').



Figure 23. (a) Specific area of regions for distribution (77), where the level of magnetic field energy E > 2. (b) Specific energy confined in regions whose evolution is shown in panel a.



Figure 24. View on the water structure from the side (a). The front view: the beginning (b), and the middle (c) of the structure.

correspond to the appearance of such structures against the background of very weak waviness. Figure 24 presents three photos of an unusually narrow and elongated structure 4–5 m in height observed on 11 June 2006 in the vicinity of the Kamchatka Pacific coast, 1–1.5 km offshore [20, 67]. The

photographer, M M Sokolovsky, describes the phenomenon documented by him in the following way: "It was, surely, a strange wave, for it was repeated several times, each time disappearing. There were no waves around, a completely still surface."



Figure 25. Example of a water structure on the sea surface.

Figure 25 also demonstrates the structure of the sea surface observed close to the coast of Ile de Ré (France) [68].²

From these examples, it is clear that if we construct a topographic map of the magnitude of the sea surface elevation gradient for them, we obtain a typical cluster structure for which a *positive field* is concentrated within a small area, being simply absent elsewhere.

It should be emphasized once again that the structures discussed above are notably different from the anomalous waves commonly considered. First, such structures can be both standing and moving, and second, they substantially exceed the background; here, we are not dealing with outliers that exceed the background just twofold [61]. In the examples above, one may rather speculate about the presence of high structures against a practically vanishing background. From these examples, it is also seen that the clustering of the positive field in this case is equivalent to such physical phenomena as the focusing of a wave field on passing through a random medium [61, 69] or of the intensity of laser radiation traversing a random medium (see Section 3.2.1).

6.2.1 Problem statement. The statement of the statistical problem on the emergence of anomalous structures on the sea surface in the kinematic approximation is presented in Ref. [69] and monograph [20].

We denote the three-dimensional spatial coordinate as $\mathbf{r} = \{r_i\}$, where i = 1, 2, 3, labeling the vertical coordinate as $z = r_3$, and use R_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$) to mark the coordinates in the horizontal plane perpendicular to the *z*-axis. In this notation, $\mathbf{r} = \{\mathbf{R}, z\}$. Accordingly, we represent the three-dimensional hydrodynamic velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}; t)$ through its horizontal and vertical components, i.e., in the form $u_i(\mathbf{r}; t) = \{u_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R}, z; t), w(\mathbf{R}, z; t)\}$, where i = 1, 2, 3 and the subscript $\alpha = 1, 2$.

The sea surface elevation (displacement) $z = \xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ is described through the kinematic boundary condition (Fig. 26), which is expressed as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\,\xi(\mathbf{R},t) = w_z(\mathbf{R},z;t)\bigg|_{z=\xi(\mathbf{R},t)}.\tag{81}$$

Here, $d\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)/dt$ is the full derivative of a sea surface elevation.





Boundary condition (81) can be considered a closed stochastic quasilinear equation in the framework of the kinematic approximation, i.e., for the given statistical characteristics of the velocity fields $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{R}, z; t)$ and $w(\mathbf{R}, z; t)$:

$$\frac{\partial \xi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial t} + u_{\alpha} \big(\mathbf{R}, \xi(\mathbf{R},t), t \big) \frac{\partial \xi(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial R_{\alpha}} = w_{z} \big(\mathbf{R}, \xi(\mathbf{R},t); t \big), \quad (82)$$

with the initial condition $\xi(\mathbf{R}, 0) = \xi_0(\mathbf{R})$. Equation (82) describes the generation of waves on the sea surface excited by a Gaussian vertical component of a hydrodynamic velocity field.

Differentiating equation (82) over **R**, we arrive at the equation for the gradient of sea surface elevation $p_{\beta}(\mathbf{R}, t) = \partial \xi(\mathbf{R}, t) / \partial R_{\beta}$, characterizing the slope of the sea surface:

$$\frac{\partial p_{\beta}(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial t} + \left(\frac{\partial u_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R},z;t)}{\partial R_{\beta}} + \frac{\partial u_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R},z;t)}{\partial z} p_{\beta}(\mathbf{R},t)\right)_{z=\xi(\mathbf{R},t)} p_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R},t)$$
$$+ u_{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{R},\xi(\mathbf{R},t),t\right)\frac{\partial p_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R},t)}{\partial R_{\beta}}$$
$$= \left(\frac{\partial w(\mathbf{R},z;t)}{\partial R_{\beta}} + \frac{\partial w(\mathbf{R},z;t)}{\partial z} p_{\beta}(\mathbf{R},t)\right)_{z=\xi(\mathbf{R},t)} p_{\alpha}(\mathbf{R},t), \quad (83)$$

with the boundary condition $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, 0) = \mathbf{p}_0(\mathbf{R}) = \partial \xi_0(\mathbf{R}) / \partial \mathbf{R}$.

Notice that one more boundary condition, related to the inhomogeneities in bottom topography (see Fig. 26), exists for the problem considered. In the framework of the kinematic approximation, this boundary condition is manifested in a functional form, namely, for variational derivatives of problem solutions $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t)$, the following relationships are valid:

$$\frac{\delta \xi(\mathbf{R}, t)}{\delta \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{R}', z', t')} \sim \theta(z' + H_0 - H(\mathbf{R}))\theta(t - t'),$$

$$\frac{\delta \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t)}{\delta \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{R}', z', t')} \sim \theta(z' + H_0 - H(\mathbf{R}))\theta(t - t'),$$
(84)

where $\theta(z)$ is the Heaviside theta-function. Condition (84) corresponds to an impermeable sea bottom.

Thus, equations (82) and (83) together with boundary condition (84) represent a closed system in the kinematic approximation. The solution of this system of equations should provide an answer to the question of whether or not its equations contain information on the presence of anomalous structures on the sea surface with a probability one, i.e.,

 $^{^2}$ Impressive photos of other anomalous structures on the sea surface can be found at the site http://imgur.com/a/4Y2Oo.

for almost any realization of the random velocity field. But we put aside here the physical mechanisms underlying this structure formation.

6.2.2 Statistical analysis of the problem. A statistical analysis of the problem given by equations (82)–(84) was carried out in Refs [58, 70]. An equation for the joint probability density of the sea surface elevation $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and its spatial gradient $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{R}, t)$ has been obtained. The result proved to be rather curious: for an infinitely deep sea and a spatially statistically homogeneous problem that corresponds to initial conditions $\xi_0(\mathbf{R})$, $p(\mathbf{R}, 0) = 0$, the situation looks as follows.

(1) The sea surface elevation $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ does not correlate with its gradient and obeys the Gaussian distribution

$$P(t;\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi B_{WW}(\mathbf{0},0)t}} \exp\left(-\frac{\xi^2}{4B_{WW}(\mathbf{0},0)t}\right),$$
 (85)

which does not depend on the nonlinearity of the input equation (82). The variance of the sea surface elevation is given by

$$\sigma_{\xi}^{2}(t) = \left\langle \xi^{2}(\mathbf{R},t) \right\rangle_{\xi} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \xi^{2} P(t;\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = 2B_{ww}(\mathbf{0},0)t \,.$$

Here, the subscript ξ labels averaging over an ensemble of realizations of field $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$. The diffusion coefficient $B_{WW}(\mathbf{0}, 0)$ in expression (85) is linked to the correlation function of the vertical velocity $w(\mathbf{R}, z; t)$ by the relationship

$$B_{\scriptscriptstyle WW}(\mathbf{0},0) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, B_{\scriptscriptstyle WW}(\mathbf{0},0;\tau) \,,$$

where $B_{WW}(\mathbf{R}, z; t)$ is the correlation function of field $w(\mathbf{R}, z; t)$. The coefficient $B_{WW}(\mathbf{0}, 0)$, in turn, is linked with the variance of random three-dimensional velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ (23):

$$B_{ww}(\mathbf{0},0) = \frac{1}{3} \int d\mathbf{k} \left[2E^{s}(k) + E^{p}(k) \right] = \frac{1}{3} \sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^{2} \tau_{0} , \qquad (86)$$

where τ_0 is the characteristic temporal correlation radius of a random velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ [see equality (25)].

As a consequence, the complex structure of the velocity field in the lower subspace cannot be the *direct reason* for stochastic structure formation for the sea surface elevation.

Note that expressions for conditional means follow from formula (85):

$$\left\langle \xi(\mathbf{R},t)|\xi>0\right\rangle_{\xi} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\xi \ \xi P(t;\xi) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi} B_{\scriptscriptstyle WW}(\mathbf{0},0)t} \ , \quad (87)$$

$$\left\langle \xi(\mathbf{R},t) | \xi < 0 \right\rangle_{\xi} = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \mathrm{d}\xi \ \xi P(t;\xi) = -\sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi} B_{ww}(\mathbf{0},0)t} \ . \tag{88}$$

Here, certainly, $\langle \xi(\mathbf{R}, t) \rangle_{\xi} = 0$.

(2) The probability density P(t; I) for the modulus squared of the sea surface elevation gradient, $I(\mathbf{R}, t) = \mathbf{p}^2(\mathbf{R}, t)$, is described by an equation of universal form:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} P(\tau; I) = \frac{\partial}{\partial I} I(1+I) P(\tau; I) + 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial I} I \frac{\partial}{\partial I} (1+I)^2 P(\tau; I) ,$$
(89)

where the dimensionless time was introduced:

$$t = \frac{2}{15} (4D^{\rm s} + D^{\rm p})t, \qquad (90)$$

and the quantities D^{s} and D^{p} are described by equalities (27) with d = 3.

We note, first, that for any fixed point in space $\hat{\mathbf{R}}$, the function $I(\tau; \hat{\mathbf{R}})$ is a random process with respect to time, with the one-time probability density, independent of $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ and described by the equation obtained.

Alongside this, in physical space $\{\mathbf{R}\}$, the process of structure formation in the field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) = |\mathbf{p}(\tau; \mathbf{R})|^2$, considered as a physical object, may take place in the form of closed regions with an augmented gradient concentration — clustering, which is also described by equation (89).

A qualitative analysis and estimates presented in Refs [58, 70] have shown the following. Equation (89) is rather complex and comprises two effects. For one thing, field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$ is generated by the random Gaussian velocity field. But, on the other hand, by virtue of the dynamics of the input stochastic equations, it is parametrically excited. The random field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$ decays with a probability one (i.e., in almost all its realizations) at a sufficiently large time at any point in space and, hence, should undergo clustering in small spatial regions.

The integral probability density distribution function $P(\tau; I)$, defined as

$$\Phi(\tau, I) = \int_0^I \mathrm{d}I' P(\tau; I') = \left\langle \theta \big(I - I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) \big) \right\rangle_{\mathbf{u}},$$

is the probability of event $\mathcal{P}(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) < I)$. The function $\Phi(\tau, I)$ satisfies the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \Phi(\tau, I) = I(1+I) \frac{\partial}{\partial I} \Phi(\tau, I) + 2I \frac{\partial}{\partial I} (1+I)^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial I} \Phi(\tau, I),$$
(91)

which follows from equation (89). Relatedly, the function

$$\tilde{\Phi}(\tau, I) = \int_{I}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}I' P(\tau; I') = \left\langle \theta \left(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - I \right) \right\rangle_{\mathbf{u}} = 1 - \Phi(\tau, I)$$

is the probability of event $\mathcal{P}(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) > I)$. Because of parametric excitation, function $\Phi(\tau, I)$ rapidly approaches unity with time, while function $\tilde{\Phi}(\tau, I)$ tends to zero [58, 70].

In general, the area over which the random field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$ exceeds the fixed level \overline{I} is described by the integral

$$S(\tau, \bar{I}) = \int d\mathbf{R} \,\theta \big(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - \bar{I} \big) \,, \tag{92}$$

and the total 'mass' of field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) > \overline{I}$ confined within this area, is given by

$$I(\tau; I > \bar{I}) = \int d\mathbf{R} \ I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) \ \theta \left(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - \bar{I} \right).$$
(93)

Averaging expressions (92) and (93) over an ensemble of realizations of random field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$, we obtain for the mean quantities:

$$\langle S(\tau, \bar{I}) \rangle_{I} = \int d\mathbf{R} \, \langle \theta \big(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - \bar{I} \big) \rangle_{I},$$

$$\langle I(\tau; I > \bar{I}) \rangle_{I} = \int d\mathbf{R} \, \langle I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) \, \theta \big(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - \bar{I} \big) \rangle_{I}.$$
(94)

For a spatially homogeneous and isotropic problem, all one-point statistical means are independent of spatial coordinate \mathbf{R} , so that the first equality in Eqn (94) should be written for the specific quantity

$$s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I}) = \left\langle \theta \left(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) - \bar{I} \right) \right\rangle_{I}, \tag{95}$$

which is the probability of event $\mathcal{P}(I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) > \overline{I})$. According to the ideas of statistical topography of random fields, the function $s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \overline{I})$ for a statistically homogeneous field has a geometric sense of the specific quantity (i.e., related to a unit area), over which field $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$ exceeds any given value \overline{I} (see, for example, Refs [17–20]). However, for a field decaying at almost all points in space, this probability tends to zero, which says that the basic statistical characteristics, such as moment functions, are concentrated on this small area. The specific gradient modulus squared *i*, concentrated in this region, is described by the equality

$$\langle i(\tau; I > \bar{I}) \rangle_{I} = \int_{\bar{I}}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}I \, IP(\tau; I)$$

$$= \langle I(t) \rangle_{I} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\langle I(t) \rangle_{I}} \int_{0}^{\bar{I}} \mathrm{d}I \, IP(\tau; I) \right). \quad (96)$$

Hence, it follows that, as time progresses, the expression in Eqn (96) to the right of the second equality sign tends to $\langle I(t) \rangle_I$. Accordingly, in this small fraction of space, a strong gradient should in all probability simply 'extrude' the free surface upward (i.e., to form *tall narrow structures*), as well as downward (i.e., to create *deep narrow troughs—maelstroms* of free surface) on a decrease in area where it is confined. And this should correspond to rare large fluctuations of the Gaussian field of sea surface elevation $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$.

6.2.3 Statistical topography of the sea surface elevation field. Consider now how the process of stochastic structure formation can be described for the sea surface $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ itself. We know that the values of the random field of gradient modulus squared $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$ exceeding a fixed magnitude \overline{I} , i.e. $I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) > \overline{I}$, are confined within small spatial regions (92) in individual realizations. Namely within this small fraction of space, the process of structure formation of the sea surface elevation $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ should take place. Consequently, for the field $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$, we should study the probability density in the region of space (92), i.e., the conditional probability density for $\xi > 0$, $I(\tau; \mathbf{R}) > \overline{I}$. In this case, the fields $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and $I(\mathbf{R}, t)$ are statistically independent.

Thus, the integral quantity of interest to us, viz.

$$d\mathbf{R}\,\xi(\mathbf{R},t)\,\theta\big(\xi(\mathbf{R},t)\big)\,\theta\big(I(\tau;\mathbf{R})-\bar{I}\big)\,,$$

averaged over ensembles of realizations of fields $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$, will define the conditional mean which, for a spatially homogeneous and isotropic problem, according to formulas (87) and (95), takes the form

$$\langle \xi(t)|\xi > 0 \rangle s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I}) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi}} B_{ww}(\mathbf{0}, 0)t s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I}).$$
 (97)

Taking into account formula (90), we can express time t in terms of dimensionless time τ and, considering equalities (25),

recast conditional mean (97) as

$$\xi(\mathbf{R},t) \theta(\xi(\mathbf{R},t)) \theta(I(\tau;\mathbf{R}) - I) \rangle_{\xi,I} = \sqrt{\frac{5\sigma_{\mathbf{u}}^2 \tau_0}{2\pi (4D^s + D^p)}} F(\tau,\bar{I}), \qquad (98)$$

where the dimensionless function

$$F(\tau;\bar{I}) = \sqrt{\tau} \, s_{\text{hom}}(\tau,\bar{I}) \,, \tag{99}$$

and the coefficients D^{s} and D^{p} in relationships (27) are expressed through statistical parameters of velocity fields by formulas (28).

We note that in incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence $(D^{\rm p} = 0)$, formula (98) is substantially simplified and, with account for equalities (28), acquires the universal form

$$\left\langle \xi(\mathbf{R},t)\,\theta\big(\xi(\mathbf{R},t)\big)\,\theta\big(I(\tau;\mathbf{R})-\bar{I}\big)\right\rangle_{\xi,\,I} = \sqrt{\frac{5}{4\pi}}\,l_{\omega}F(\tau,\bar{I})\,,\tag{100}$$

where $l_{\omega} = \sigma_{u}/\sigma_{\omega}$ is the spatial correlation radius of the velocity/vorticity field.

For small times, this conditional mean grows with time, but then decays because of a rapid decrease in function $s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I})$, passing through the maximum which characterizes the mean maximum amplitude of anomalous structure formation on the sea surface.

In a similar way, one may compute other conditional moment functions like

$$\langle \xi^n(\mathbf{R},t) | \xi > 0; I(\tau;\mathbf{R}) > \overline{I} \rangle.$$

It is also possible to consider the integral quantity

$$\int d\mathbf{R}\,\xi(\mathbf{R},t)\theta(-\xi(\mathbf{R},t))\theta(I(\tau;\mathbf{R})-\bar{I})\,,$$

which, on averaging over ensembles of realizations of fields $\xi(\mathbf{R}, t)$ and $I(\tau; \mathbf{R})$, defines the conditional mean for the spatially homogeneous and isotropic case:

$$\left\langle \xi(t) | \xi < 0 \right\rangle s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I}) = -\sqrt{\frac{1}{\pi}} B_{ww}(\mathbf{0}, 0) t s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I}) \,. \tag{101}$$

For small times, conditional mean (101) decays with time, but will increase further because of a rapid decrease in positive function $s_{\text{hom}}(\tau, \bar{I})$, passing through a minimum value which characterizes the mean minimum amplitude of anomalous negative structure formation on the sea surface (i.e., deep trough).

Thus, based on the equations obtained in Refs [58, 70], it is shown that in the process of structure formation of the gradient modulus, the field of sea surface elevation increases in small regions which comprise the entire gradient, reaching a maximum and then beginning to decrease. Thus, the structures studied may reach a substantial amplitude on the fluid surface, but are limited both in magnitude and lifetime.

Let us make a remark concerning the interpretation of statistical means from the standpoint of statistical topography. Formulas (97) and (101) show that sea surface elevations differing from zero are confined in the regions where the modulus of the gradient undergoes clustering, i.e., in such regions where this modulus is larger than any value of \bar{I} ,

however small. Note that at $\overline{I} = 0$, formulas (97) and (101) lose their meaning since they cease to describe the distribution of the elevation in space and become, therefore, expressions for ordinary means, the interpretation of which from the standpoint of behavior in individual realizations does not convey useful information (see, for example, books [17–20]).

We also note that the estimates obtained in Refs [58, 70] and general features of the sea surface elevation amplitude only point to the existence of an effect. More detailed characteristics and additional verification can be furnished by numerically solving equations (89) and (91), and also by numerical simulations of the input equation (82).

7. Conclusion

We have considered the processes of stochastic structure formation in two-dimensional geophysical fluid dynamics based on statistical analysis of Gaussian random fields, as well as stochastic structure formation in dynamical systems with parametric excitation of positive random fields $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ described by partial differential equations. We also considered two examples of stochastic structure formation in dynamical systems with parametric excitation in the presence of Gaussian pumping. Such structure formation in dynamical systems with parametric excitation in space and time either happens or not! However, if it occurs in space, then this almost always happens in individual realizations, i.e., with a unit probability (exponentially fast), and for the spatially homogeneous statistical case consists in the following:

(1) the field decays at almost all points in space with time (clearly with fluctuations superimposed);

(2) the regions of small volume where this field is concentrated (clustered) develop in space, and stochastic structure formation is caused by diffusion of random field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ in its phase space $\{f\}$.

In the case considered, clustering of the field $f(\mathbf{r}, t)$ of any nature is a general feature of dynamical fields, and one may claim that structure formation for such arbitrary random fields is the *law of nature*.

In this study, we clarified conditions under which such structure formation takes place. It is worth noting that these conditions have a transparent physical–mathematical sense and are described at a sufficiently elementary mathematical level by resorting to the ideas of statistical topography.

Acknowledgments

The author is indebted to K V Koshel' for his longstanding help with numerical modeling of dynamical systems and numerical solution of various equations, and also for joint analytical work on statistical analysis of the problem involving stochastic structures on the sea surface. The author also thanks an anonymous reviewer for critical remarks which helped to improve the presentation of material.

The work was carried out with the support of the Russian Science Foundation (grant 14-27-00134).

References

- 1. Shcherbakov R N Phys. Usp. 57 143 (2014); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 184 153 (2014)
- Nicolis G, Prigogin I Exploring Complexity: An Introduction (New York: W.H. Freeman and Co., 1989); Translated into Russian: Poznanie Slozhnogo: Vvedenie (Moscow: URSS, 2008)
- Klyatskin V I J. Appl. Math. Mech. 33 864 (1969); Prikl. Matem. Mekh. 33 889 (1969)

- Klyatskin V I Izv. Atmos. Ocean. Phys. 31 717 (1995); Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Fiz. Atm. Okeana 31 749 (1995); Klyatskin V, Gurarie D Physica D 98 466 (1996)
- Landau L D, Lifshitz E M Fluid Mechanics 2nd ed. (Oxford: Pergamon Press, 1987); Translated from Russian: Gidrodinamika (Moscow: Nauka, 1986)
- 6. Hopf E, Titt E W J. Rational Mech. Anal. 2 587 (1953)
- 7. Kraichnan R H, Montgomery D Rep. Prog. Phys. 43 547 (1980)
- 8. Hopfinger E J, Browand F K Nature 295 393 (1982)
- 9. Griffiths R W, Hopfinger E J Deep Sea Res. A 31 245 (1984)
- 10. Boubnov B M, Golitsyn G S J. Fluid Mech. 167 503 (1986)
- 11. Hopfinger E J, in *Theoretical and Applied Mechanics* (Eds P Germain, M Piau, D Caillerie) (Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1989) p. 117
- Boubnov B M, Golitsyn G S Convection in Rotating Fluids (Dordrecht: Kluwer Acad. Publ., 1995)
- Golitsyn G S Statistika i Dinamika Prirodnykh Protsessov i Yavlenii: Metody, Instrumentarii, Rezul'taty (Statistics and Dynamics of Processes and Phenomena in Nature: Methods, Tools, and Results) (Moscow: KRASAND, 2013)
- 14. Pavlov V, Buisine D, Goncharov V Nonlin. Proc. Geophys. 89 (2001)
- Karimova S S, Lavrova O Yu, Solov'ev D M Atmos. Ocean. Phys. 49 1006 (2012); Issled. Zemli Kosmosa (5) 15 (2011)
- 16. Karimova S Adv. Space Res. 50 1107 (2012)
- Klyatskin V I Lectures on Dynamics of Stochastic Systems (Boston, MA: Elsevier, 2010)
- Klyatskin V I Ocherki po Dinamike Stokhasticheskikh Sistem (Notes on the Dynamics of Stochastic Systems) (Moscow: KRASAND, 2012)
- Klyatskin V I Statisticheskii Analiz Kogerentnykh Yavlenii v Stokhasticheskikh Dinamicheskikh Sistemakh (Statistical Analysis of Coherent Phenomena in Stochastic Dynamical Systems) (Moscow: KRASAND, 2015)
- Klyatskin V I Stochastic Equations: Theory and Applications in Acoustics, Hydrodynamics, Magnetohydrodynamics, and Radiophysics Vols 1, 2 (Heidelberg: Springer, 2015)
- 21. Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 55 1152 (2012); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 182 1235 (2012)
- Klyatskin V I, in Chaos and Complex Systems. Proc. of the 4th Intern. Interdisciplinary Chaos Symp. (Eds S G Stavrinides et al.) (Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2013) p. 69
- 23. Klyatskin V I Theor. Math. Phys. 176 1252 (2013); Teor. Mat. Fiz. 176 495 (2013)
- 24. Klyatskin V I Russ. J. Math. Phys. 20 295 (2013)
- Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 54 441 (2011); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 181 457 (2011)
- Zel'dovich Ya B et al. Sov. Phys. JETP 62 1188 (1985); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 89 2061 (1985)
- Zel'dovich Ya B et al. Sov. Phys. Usp. 30 353 (1987); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 152 3 (1987)
- 28. Klyatskin V I Dinamicheskie Sistemy 4 193 (2014)
- 29. Batchelor G K, Townsend A A Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 199 238 (1949)
- 30. Batchelor G K, Howells I D, Townsend A A J. Fluid Mech. 5 113 (1959)
- Monin A S, Yaglom A M Statistical Fluid Mechanics Vol. 2 (Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1975); Translated from Russian: Statisticheskaya Gidrodinamika Vol. 2 (Moscow: Nauka, 1967)
- Zakharov V "Bezumnye volny" ("Crazy waves"), http:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=Bt3ZOswGd-4; "Volny-ubitsy" ("Rogue Waves"), http://www.zoomby.ru/watch/114832-academia
- Ruzmaikin A A Phys. Usp. 57 289 (2014); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 184 297 (2014)
- 34. Anderson P W Phys. Rev. 109 1492 (1958)
- Lifshits I M, Gredeskul S A, Pastur L A Introduction to the Theory of Disordered Solids (New York: John Wiley, 1988); Translated from Russian: Vvedenie v Teoriyu Neuporyadochennykh Sistem (Moscow: Nauka, 1982)
- Klyatskin V I, Saichev A I Phys. Usp. 35 231 (1992); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 162 (3) 161 (1992)
- Mikhailov A S, Uporov I V Sov. Phys. Usp. 27 695 (1984); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 144 79 (1984)

- Klyatskin V I, Saichev A I JETP 84 716 (1997); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 111 1297 (1997)
- Klyatskin V I, Chkhetiani O G JETP 109 345 (2009); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 136 400 (2009)
- Landau L D, Lifshitz E M Electrodynamics of Continuous Media (Oxford: Pergamon Press, 1984); Translated from Russian: Elektrodinamika Sploshnykh Sred (Moscow: Nauka, 1982)
- 41. Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 47 169 (2004); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 174 177 (2004)
- Malyanov D, gazeta.ru, 17.06.2011, http://www.gazeta.ru/science/ 2011/06/17_a_3664677.shtml; Atkinson N, Universe Today, Space and Astronomy News, 10 June, 2011, http://www.universetoday. com/86446/voyagers-find-giant-jacuzzi-like-bubbles-at-edge-ofsolar-system/
- Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 51 395 (2008); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 178 419 (2008)
- Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 52 514 (2009); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 179 547 (2009)
- 45. Zavorotnyi V U, Klyatskin V I, Tatarskii V I Sov. Phys. JETP 46 252 (1977); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 73 481 (1977)
- 46. Klyatskin V I Ondes et Équations Stochastiques dans les milieus Aléatoirement non Homogènes (Besançon-Cedex: Les éditions de Physique, 1985); Translated from Russian: Stokhasticheskie Uravneniya i Volny v Sluchaino-neodnorodnykh Sredakh (Moscow: Fizmatlit, 1980)
- 47. Klyatskin V I, Yakushkin I G *JETP* **84** 1114 (1997); *Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.* **111** 2044 (1997)
- Klyatskin V I, Elperin T JETP 95 328 (2002); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 122 327 (2002)
- 49. Maxey M R J. Fluid Mech. 174 441 (1987)
- Klyatskin V I JETP 99 1005 (2004); Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 126 1153 (2004)
- Izrael' Yu A Radioaktivnoe Zagryaznenie Prirodnykh Sred v Rezul'tate Avarii na Chernobyl'skoi Atomnoi Stantsii (k 20-letiyu Avarii) (Radioactive Contamination of the Natural Media as the Result of the Incident at the Chernobyl Nuclear Power Plant) (Moscow: Komtekhprint, 2006); http://www.ibrae.ac.ru/images/ stories/ibrae/chernobyl/israel.pdf
- Gurbatov S N, Saichev A I, Shandarin S F Phys. Usp. 55 223 (2012); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 182 233 (2012)
- Rytov S M, Kravtsov Yu A, Tatarskii V I Principles of Statistical Radiophysics Vols 1-4 (Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1987-1989); Translated from Russian: Vvedenie v Statisticheskuyu Radiofiziku Vols 1, 2 (Moscow: Nauka, 1977, 1978)
- Klyatskin V I Theor. Math. Phys. 172 1243 (2012); Teor. Mat. Fiz. 172 415 (2012)
- 55. Klyatskin V I, Yakushkin I G *JETP* **91** 736 (2000); *Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.* **118** 849 (2000)
- Klyatskin V I, Koshel' K V Phys. Usp. 43 717 (2000); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 170 771 (2000)
- Klyatskin V I Phys. Usp. 54 441 (2011); Usp. Fiz. Nauk 181 457 (2011)
- 58. Klyatskin V I, Koshel K V Phys. Rev. E 91 063003 (2015)
- Kurkin A A, Pelinovskii E N Volny-ubiitsy: Fakty, Teoriya i Modelirovanie (Rogue Waves: Facts, Theory, Modeling) (Nizhny Novgorod: NGTU, 2004)
- 60. Kharif C, Pelinovsky E, Slunyaev A Rogue Waves in the Ocean (Berlin: Springer, 2009)
- 61. Dysthe K, Krogstad H E, Muller P Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech. 40 287 (2008)
- 62. Christou M, Ewans K J. Phys. Oceanogr. 44 2317 (2014)
- Ruban V P JETP Lett. 94 177 (2011); Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 94 194 (2011)
- 64. Ruban V P JETP Lett. **95** 486 (2012); Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. **95** 550 (2012)
- 65. Ruban V P JETP Lett. 97 188 (2013); Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 97 215 (2013)
- Ruban V P JETP Lett. 97 686 (2013); Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 97 788 (2013)

- Klyatskin V I Theor. Math. Phys. 180 850 (2014); Teor. Mat. Fiz. 180 127 (2014)
- 68. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Ile_de_ré.JPG
- 69. Metzger J J, Fleischmann R, Geisel T *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** 203903 (2014)
- Klyatskin V I, Koshel' K V Theor. Math. Phys. 186 410 (2016); Teor. Mat. Fiz. 186 473 (2016)